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Monday, April 6, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  On November 7th, 2008, Oshawa PUC Networks Inc. filed an application with the Ontario Energy Board for changes to the rates that Oshawa can charge for electricity distribution effective May 1st, 2009.The Board issued a notice of application hearing dated November 27th, 2008, in which it announced that the application would be reviewed in two parts.  Part one would be the review of the standard IRM application request regarding recovery of lost revenue adjustment mechanism and shared services mechanism amounts, and the second part, which is the subject of this hearing, is the review of the request for incremental capital investment.  With respect to the first part, the decision has already been issued.

With me today is Board Member Ken Quesnelle.

Could I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, sir.  My name is James Sidlofsky, S-I-D-L-O-F-S-K-Y, counsel to Oshawa PUC Networks Inc.

MR. VLAHOS:  Welcome, Mr. Sidlofsky.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Hi.  My name is –

MR. VLAHOS:  I'm looking for counsel for the parties.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning.  John DeVellis with School Energy Coalition.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Mr. Quesnelle. Michael Millar, Counsel for Board Staff.  With me is Martin Benum, Alex Ruest and Cedric Ligaire.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Okay, Mr. Sidlofsky, I guess we have to turn it over to you.  Any preliminary remarks before you present your panel?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I have some opening comments, sir, which I will get to in just a moment.  I also want to mention that we have provided Staff with a number of copies of a package of material that we will be filing this morning.  I have also provided that to my friends, Mr. Buonaguro and Mr. DeVellis, some additional material.  And I will touch on those in my opening comments so the Board is aware of what they are.  They will be addressed by the witness panel when they go through their examination-in-chief.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, sir.
Opening Statement by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, if I might lead right into my opening comments, the applicant in this case is Oshawa PUC Networks Inc.  Oshawa PUC owns and operates the electricity distribution system serving the City of Oshawa.

In its July 2008 report on third generation IRM, the Board determined that there would be an incremental capital module in third generation incentive regulation.  The Board set eligibility criteria based on materiality, need and prudence.  Eligibility to apply for rate relief would be subject to a materiality threshold, and in its September 2008 supplemental report, the Board established the formula for determining that that threshold.

Oshawa rebased in 2008 and filed its 2009 rate adjustment application in November of last year under the Board's guidelines for third generation IRM application.  The 2009 IRM application had three components.  As you mentioned, sir, the first two have already been dealt with.  The third is a request for an adjustment related to incremental capital expenditures that, taken together, exceed the Board's capital expenditures materiality threshold test.

The Board has dealt with Oshawa's application in two parts.  The Board's decision on part one was issued on March 20th, and we're here today to deal with part two.  The record in this regard consists of the incremental capital components of Oshawa's application, together with Oshawa's responses to Board Staff, VECC and School's interrogatories.

To assist the Board and the parties, Oshawa will be presenting one witness panel today.  The panel will be composed of Atul Mahajan.  First name is spelled A-T-U-L; last name M-A-H-A-J-A-N, president of Oshawa PUC Networks Inc.  Mark Turney, T-U-R-N-E-Y, vice president of engineering and operations.  And Vivian Leppard, L-E-P-P-A-R-D, regulatory analyst.  These witnesses have all been directly involved in the preparation of the application, and this hearing will be their first introduction to the Board's process from the perspective of a witness.

In the incremental application as it was originally filed last fall, Oshawa identified four capital projects with a total cost of $3,533,300 and a resulting incremental revenue requirement of $453,220.  As can be seen from its interrogatory responses and as will be discussed by the witness panel, the cost of Oshawa's concrete pole replacement project -- one of the four projects that is the subject of this part two application -- has been reduced in cost as a result of further study from $1,521,800 to $210,000.  This leaves $2,221,500 in incremental capital spending, and a corresponding incremental revenue requirement of $284,954 is now being requested.

Now, as Mr. Mahajan will also be discussing, Oshawa also seeks to recover its costs of this application.  While the standard 2009 IRM process is mechanistic and was dealt with on the basis of a written hearing, the Board has determined that Oshawa's part two application will be disposed of by way of an oral hearing.  That will necessarily involve payment of Board and intervenor costs, and Oshawa has retained counsel to assist in this hearing.

Oshawa's calculation of its incremental capital requirement did not include hearing costs or applications costs.  It was based solely on the expenditures for the proposed capital projects.  However, Oshawa wishes to ensure that it has adequate funds to complete these projects and is concerned that the costs of this proceeding could reduce those project funds.  Oshawa proposes to spread those costs over two rate years, so as to avoid over-recovery.

Throughout its 2009 IRM application, Oshawa has been mindful of minimizing the impact of its proposed rate adjustments on customer bills, consistent with the Board's focus on total bill impacts.  The impacts will be discussed by the witness panel but I would note that the typical residential customer using a thousand kilowatt-hours per month will see a bill impact of only 33 cents, or .335 percent, per month based on the capital expenditures.  With an allowance for application related costs, the bill impact is still only 35 cents, or 0.350 percent per month.

Because this oral hearing is limited in both time and scope, Oshawa's witness panel will not be taking the Board through its entire application.  It can be said, though, that Oshawa's objective in its incremental capital application has been and continues to be to pursue nondiscretionary, cost-effective projects that will have a significant influence on Oshawa's operations, that will improve the safety and reliability of its distribution system, which will in turn benefit Oshawa's customers, and that are outside of the base on which its 2008 distribution rates were calculated.

In short, it will be Oshawa's submission that it has met the Board's criteria for approval of its incremental capital expenditures.  Importantly, Oshawa will have been able to meet those criteria with minimal impact on customer bills.

Now, with that said, I would like the call Oshawa's witness panel, but just before I do that, I am going to identify the material that I -- the material that I have provided to the Board this morning.  There are four categories of material that I have provided, and perhaps they could be -- I am not sure if the Board will want to mark the six items separately or mark them in groups.  But the first item is a package of CVs for Mr. Mahajan, Mr. Turney and Ms. Leppard.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, why don't we mark those together.  This will be Exhibit K1.1 and it's the CV package.
EXHIBIT K1.1:  CV PACKAGE

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The second item is a one-page table, it's a revised incremental capital budget table.  I suggest that that could be marked separately.

MR. MILLAR:  K-1.2.
EXHIBIT K1.2:  REVISED INCREMENTAL CAPITAL BUDGET TABLE

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The third package is actually comprised of two items.  They're revised capital budget models for the part two application.  The first, the first version does not include application costs, the second version does include application costs of $25,000 spread over two years.  So $12,500 per year.

MR. MILLAR:  Which document is this Mr. Sidlofsky, can you...

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The capital budget models are the letter sized.  Excuse me, I am sorry, legal size.  I apologize.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  This one?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I think the title is "2009 OEB."

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there are two.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That’s correct, and you can see the difference right away because in the version with costs, there’s a notation in the upper right-hand corner that says includes $12,500 per year for costs.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there is one -- and you would like this marked as one document or two?  They are separate, so two.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  They are separate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay so K1.3 and K1.4.  K1.4 being the one with costs.
EXHIBIT K1.3:  CAPITAL BUDGET MODEL WITHOUT COSTS
EXHIBIT K1.4:  CAPITAL BUDGET MODEL WITH COSTS

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And finally, there are two spreadsheets, multipage spreadsheets printed on letter sized paper, those are titled Oshawa PUC Networks Inc. bill impacts.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sidlofsky, perhaps we can get those documents.  It would be easier to follow what they are by just looking at them as well, especially the previous one.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I did provide copies to Staff for the Panel.


MR. VLAHOS:  I realize that but the Panel has not seen them yet.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am sorry, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, I’ll have to ask you to go back to K1.3 and just tell us the purpose of that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The document marked as K1.3 which is the first of the two legal sized spreadsheets is the revised third generation IRM supplementary filing module.  That's how it's titled.  It's Oshawa's calculation of the threshold for incremental capital investment and its calculation of the proposed rates related to it.  The first -- the first workbook does not include application costs, the second workbook does.  So 1.3 is without costs, 1.4 is with costs.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I just ask the chair here the difference being the updated to the pole project; is that the reason for refiling?  Is that what's reflected here?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  And Mr. Sidlofsky, I noted that the revenue requirement adjustment it's -- you said $284,954, $284,954; is that what you said?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct, sir, and that's shown in K1.2 now.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And this does reflect the reduction in the pole capital budget; right?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes it does, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, I will tell you why I am asking the question.  The first application the revenue requirement adjustment that I had it was -- I had it calculated a different amount, I don't know why.  Does $270,898 ring a bell to you?  If it doesn't, that's fine, we will...

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Actually it rings a very clear bell.  Let me explain the panel was going to mention --

MR. VLAHOS:  That’s fine then.


MR. SIDLOFSKY: -- that but I can explain that very quickly, though.  Ms. Leppard will be commenting on this very briefly, but at page 10 Oshawa's responses to Board Staff interrogatories, they prepared -- they provided a table that's very similar to exhibit K1.2 and the incremental revenue requirement, you're absolutely right, sir, was shown as $270,898.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, in preparing for the hearing in this matter, the calculations were reviewed and Ms. Leppard will be mentioning this, but the calculations were reviewed and determined that there had been some errors particularly in the tax calculations.  So this is an updated version of that incremental revenue requirement.  Now, one thing you will clearly see when comparing K1.2 to the table at page 10 of Oshawa's responses to Board Staff interrogatories, is that the capital costs of the projects have remained constant at $2,221,500 in total.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So getting to the final pair of exhibits, sir.  These letter-sized workbooks set out bill impacts for Oshawa's customer classes for -- based on the revised capital expenditure amount and the revised incremental revenue requirement.  The first of the two workbooks illustrates impacts with no application costs and I am not sure that that's been marked yet, but I assume that that will be Exhibit K1.5.

MR. MILLAR:  K1.5.
EXHIBIT K1.5:  OSHAWA PUC NETWORKS INC. BILL IMPACTS WITH NO APPLICATION COSTS

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And the second of those includes $25,000 in application costs spread over two years so effectively $12,500 per year.

MR. MILLAR:  That's K1.6.
EXHIBIT K1.6:  OSHAWA PUC NETWORKS INC. BILL IMPACTS WITH APPLICATION COSTS

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So that's our additional material for this morning, and perhaps we could have the panel sworn.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.
OSHAWA PUC NETWORKS - PANEL 1


Mark Turney, Sworn;


Atul Mahajan, Sworn;


Vivian Leppard, Sworn


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I have some direct examination for the panel.  I expect it could take 20 minutes to a half hour for this.  I will try to be as expeditious as I can.

MR. VLAHOS:  As long as it doesn't repeat answer which are already on the record and we have read.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It's not the plan, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.
Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, the Board now has your CVs, panel.  Mr. Mahajan, you are the president and chief executive officer of Oshawa PUC Networks?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, is your microphone on?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I think it is on now.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  And you have a CA designation in India and a CMA designation in Canada?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I understand that you have been with Oshawa PUC Networks Inc. since 2004.


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And could you tell me your responsibilities in respect of this application?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I have the overall executive responsibility for the application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Turney, I understand that you are the vice president of engineering and operations for Oshawa PUC.

MR. TURNEY:  That is correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you are a certified engineer technologist?

MR. TURNEY:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And my understanding from your CV is that you've been with Oshawa PUC Networks and its predecessor Public Utilities Commission since 1998; is that correct?

MR. TURNEY:  Actually 19 --.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Excuse me, 1988.

MR. TURNEY:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And chief operating officer and vice president since 1999.

MR. TURNEY:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your responsibilities with respect to this application?

MR. TURNEY:  The technical aspects of the application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.

Ms. Leppard, you are regulatory analyst with Oshawa PUC Networks?

MS. LEPPARD:  Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you hold a bachelor of math and a master of arts?

MS. LEPPARD:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you have been with Oshawa Public Utilities and its predecessor since 1994; correct?

MS. LEPPARD:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And regulatory analyst with Oshawa PUC Networks since 2006.

MS. LEPPARD:  That's right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And your responsibilities with respect to this application?

MS. LEPPARD:  I was responsible for the review of the incremental capital module which was prepared for this application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And perhaps I could direct this to all the member of the panel:  Was the evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, it was.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Are you speaking for the whole panel, Mr. Mahajan?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And do you adopt it as your own evidence in this proceeding?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, we do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt Oshawa PUC Networks' responses to Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories in this proceeding as your evidence?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, we do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you have any corrections or updates to the evidence?

MR. MAHAJAN:  We do have a correction to the evidence and all of that was discussed in the conversation with Mr. Vlahos and Mr. Sidlofsky.  Ms. Leppard will deal with that in a moment, but there are two items that I would like to address today.

The first relates to the two projects on our list of incremental capital expenditures.  Our original application, as you know, was for an incremental capital adjustment with a requested approval of an additional $453,220 in revenue.  That related to our projects with a total value of approximately three-and-a-half million dollars.  Those projects and their costs were listed on page 4 of our incremental capital application.  There are two projects that I would like to mention in particular: the concrete pole replacement, with a cost of approximately one-and-a-half million dollars, and the elimination of long-term load transfers, with a cost of approximately $907,000.

On the issue of concrete pole replacement, when the original application was filed, PUC had done a preliminary investigation at that time and our team had estimated that we would have to replace 20 per cent of our poles.  That was roughly 217 poles, at an average cost of $7,000.  We had said in the application that the poles were being inspected by a subject matter expert team to determine their eligibility to remain in service.  That team determined that 30 poles required replacement.  Now, there is a requirement to replace quite a few of the poles.  The 30 poles are for the immediate year that we believe we need to replace for the purposes of safety.  A total expenditure of 210,000 instead of one-and-a-half million dollars originally estimated was what we arrived at.

This was confirmed in our response to the Board Staff interrogatory 6 in our incremental capital application.  The table setting out our revised total proposed expenditures and the corresponding revenue requirement can be found at page 10 of our responses to Board Staff part two interrogatories.

That reduced the incremental revenue requirement to $270,898.  Once again, I would like to emphasize that there is a correction to that, which we will talk about in a minute.

As for long-term load transfers, the Board's deadline for elimination of those transfers has been January 31st of this year.  In our application and our interrogatory responses, we advised that we intended to eliminate all of PUC's long-term load transfers in 2009.  When we filed our application we had another application pending with the Board.  That was an application to extend the deadline for elimination to 2011, based on a four-year implementation plan.

Between the filing of our incremental capital application and the interrogatory phase of this proceeding, the Board granted that application.  But we made it clear in the response to Board Staff interrogatory 11 that it was still important to eliminate the load transfers in 2009, primarily from a service qualify perspective, notwithstanding that the Board had granted that request for an extension.

On Friday, March 27th, the Board published a notice of its intention to amend the Distribution System Code.  The proposed amendments would extend the deadline for such elimination to June 30th of 2014 and require an updated implementation plan for the elimination of transfers in the light of Bill 150.  The Board's notice says that while the proposed amendments allowed distributors to delay their plans for eliminating load transfer arrangements, they do not require distributors to delay those plans.  Therefore, any cost already expended by distributors in order to comply with the timeline currently set out in the Distribution System Code would not be wasted, as the distributors can continue on with their current plans to phase out their load transfer arrangements.

Again, though it remains important to eliminate the transfers in 2009, notwithstanding that the Board granted our request for an extension, my colleague Mr. Turney will discuss that in a moment as to what would be the drivers for us to do that this year.

The second item I would like to address is the matter of the costs.  When we made our application, we had originally understand that the 2009 IRM applications would be dealt with through a written process with limited interventions, but our incremental capital request has resulted in an additional intervention, another round of interrogatories, an oral hearing, and we understand the reasons for doing so.  However, OPUC will have to pay the Board's costs, the intervenors' cost claims and its own costs relating to this part two application.

OPUC wants to ensure that it has the funds it needs to carry out the incremental capital projects, and we are requesting the Board to allow us to recover the costs of this part two application through the adjusted rates.  We don't know what the final costs will be, but at this time I had requested Ms. Leppard to prepare a calculation of bill impacts based on an additional $25,000 in costs spread over two years.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Mahajan, thank you.

Mr. Turney, may I have your comments on the timing of the load transfer eliminations in light of the Board's recent notice?

MR. TURNEY:  Yes.  We have again considered the timing in light of the Board's new notice and we continue to be of the view that the work should be done this year.  I have a couple of comments on this in that regard.  At page 8 of our incremental capital application, we wrote that the need to complete other enhancement and expansion projects on our system required us to take a multiyear approach to load transfer elimination, but that we would prefer to accelerate that process in order to meet our regulatory requirements in a more timely manner.  But this is not just a matter of timing and regulatory requirements.

When we filed our incremental capital application, we also filed a copy of our plan to eliminate the transfers along with additional information requested by the Board.

In our exemption application, the information we filed on July 25, 2008 included comments on reliability and power quality.  Those comments can be found under part three of our July 25th material, on the seventh page of that document under section 3.  For two of the three areas in which load transfers exist, the elimination of the load transfers will significantly improve the reliability and power quality for the customers in those areas.  We said two things.  First, those customers are connected to a very old and relatively long Hydro One rural feeder.  By connecting those customers to a new OPUCN urban feeder, reliability and power quality would be significantly improved.


Second, the feeder extensions allow for the completion of the feeder loop.  By completing the loop, OPUCN can provide back-up service to most if not all of those customers in the event of equipment failure, and that improves the reliability of distribution service to all of the customers connected to the feeder.  In response to OEB Staff interrogatory 11 at page 19 of 25 of our responses, we had advised that OPUCN can provide better quality service through faster response times based on our physical proximity to load transfer customers.


Finally, the Board's notice would require distributors to consider their eliminations of load transfers in the context of Bill 150, the proposed Green Energy and Green Economy Act.  We believe that the connection of the load transfer customers to new urban circuits will facilitate the transition to a smart grid and the development of new, renewable generation in our service area.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Turney.

Ms. Leppard, I understand that you reviewed the new 2009 IRM model that accompanied the Oshawa PUC Networks’ application as well as the modified incremental capital model; is that correct?

MS. LEPPARD:  Yes, I did.  And when I reran the model I determined that a number of corrections were required to the depreciation return and PILs calculations. As a result, the corrected incremental capital requirement exclusive of costs is $284,954.  I have prepared a revised version of the table at page 10 of our responses to Board Staff interrogatories showing the revised project budget analysis and you have that table as Exhibit K1.2.

We have proposed to add $12,500 in costs to the $284,000 allowing us to recover $25,000 in application- related costs over two years for a total incremental revenue requirement of $297,454.

I have prepared two revised versions of the incremental capital model for the Board and the parties to this hearing.  The first sets out the revenue requirement with no application costs, you have that as Exhibit K1.3. The second includes the $12,500 in application costs per year and that is available as Exhibit K1.4.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Leppard, did the utility consider the impact of this application on customer bills?

MS. LEPPARD:  Yes, we did.  We considered the impact of the additional revenue requirement when we filed the application, and I have considered the impact of the reduced revenue requirement based on the reduction of the concrete pole program.  The impacts of the revised incremental revenue requirement on typical bills are as follows:  Residential customers at 1000-kilowatt-hours will have a monthly bill impact of 0.335 percent.  A typical GS less than 50 kW customer, small commercial customer, will have a monthly bill impact of 0.287 percent.  A typical customer between 50 and 100 kW is considered to have 135 kW of demand per year -– sorry, per month, and 55,000 kWh in the same month. The monthly impact in that case is 0.163 percent.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Leppard, could I just stop you there.  I think you said GS 50 to 100 kilowatt customer, I think your class is 1,000; is that correct?

MS. LEPPARD:  The class is 50 to 1,000, I’m sorry.  An intermediate customer is considered one who has a usage between 1,000 and 5,000 kilowatts per month and 842,000-kilowatt-hours, the bill impact for those customers will be 0.120 percent. Large user at 7,900 kilowatts and, 3.6 million kilowatt hours per month will have a monthly bill impact of 0.150 percent.  Unmetered scattered load, sentinel light, and street light customers will see bill increases of 0.299 percent, 46.726, and 36.612 respectively.  These impacts do not include our application for costs and are available on Exhibit K1.5.

Using $25,000 in costs as a placeholder for our actual costs and spreading those over two years, the impacts increase to 0.35 percent for residential customers; 0.3 percent for GS less than 50 kW customers; 0.17 percent for customers between 50 and 1,000; 0.126 percent for intermediate customers between 1,000 and 5,000; 0.156 percent for large-use customers. Unmetered scattered load, sentinel light, and street light customers will see increases of 0.311 percent, 46.726 percent, and 36.612 percent respectively and these calculations are available in Exhibit K1.6.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Leppard, if I could just ask you overall do you consider those impacts to be reasonable?

MS. LEPPARD:  I believe they are, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you consider that they require any mitigation?

MS. LEPPARD:  I don't think they would have to be mitigated, no.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The percentages for sentinel and street light customers seem a little high, can you explain why that is?

MS. LEPPARD:  The calculations for sentinel and street light customers are not based on meters, they are based on the number of connections, so for instance, for each street light customers, each street light is a connection.  And for sentinel light customers, typically their connections are small enough that any change is very high. There is also as a result of -- cost allocation changes, more costs are being subscribed to these classes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you Ms. Leppard.

Mr. Mahajan, the proposed incremental revenue requirement that you originally asked for was $453,220 and its now down to $284,954 with the reduction of the expenditure on concrete pole replacement plus costs of approximately $297,000.  Is the recovery of that reduced incremental revenue requirement still important to Oshawa PUC Networks Inc.?

MR. MAHAJAN:  It absolutely is.  I think in any economy, an amount of 290,000 or approximately $300,000 is significant, but certainly, in this economy when, in a place like Oshawa, we are facing unprecedented challenges, this amount would be required and I would like to take a moment to explain why.  The incremental revenue requirement is approximately $280,000 plus costs.  That may not seem like a large amount of money, but it represents an incremental capital expenditure of over $2.2 million.  That is substantial, and it represents approximately 20 percent of our 2009 capital budgets.  It's clearly a significant expenditure and it is not one that Oshawa's able to undertake without the ability to earn a return on capital. Having said that, all of these projects are non-discretionary.  They add to reliability, they add to safety.  If there’s –- all the utilities are facing unprecedented capital expenditures that that they will be making driven by Bill 150.  In Oshawa, we have an older system and we want to continue to invest responsibly, prudently in that system as long as it meets the key drivers of reliability and safety.  We will have significant capital expenditures in the coming years related to smart meters, the smart grid, distributed generation, and CDM.  While those projects can't be identified and quantified at this time, the needs are eminent and they would be the expenditures that Oshawa PUC and other distributors will have to make in the light of Bill 150.Allowing Oshawa to proceed with these projects at this time would provide the regulatory certainty that is required by distributors in undertaking such expenditures.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Mahajan.

One final question:  Ms. Leppard, I expect that you are assuming May 1st implementation for the recovery of the incremental capital revenue requirement?


MS. LEPPARD:  I am assuming May 1st; that is right.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Consistent with part one of your application; correct?


MS. LEPPARD:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And does anything change for you if you do not have a new rate order for implementation as of May 1st?


MS. LEPPARD:  If the Board is not able to make a determination in this matter in time for the May 1st implementation, we would ask that they allow us to recover the incremental revenue requirement over the remaining months of the rate year.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.

Mr. Chair, those are my questions.  The panel is now available for cross-examination.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.

Gentlemen, have you decided on the order?  Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I am going first.
Cross-examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  I think I should start with what I think is the most new part of the application, which I think was first heard today, which is the request for costs.  Am I correct that today is the first day that the company has asked for costs?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That is correct.  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I heard, I think, some slightly conflicting characterizations of what you are asking for.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you asking for $25,000 over two years, or are you asking for actual costs and your estimate is $25,000?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Our actual costs, the estimate is $25,000.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which one are you asking the Board to give you?  I had heard that you had calculated the rate impacts and the recovery over two years based on a $25,000 figure, but then I also heard that you didn't know what the actual figure was going to be.  But it was unclear to me whether you were asking for 25,000 as a placeholder or whether that was the number that you are forecasting and therefore that is the number you are recovering.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, that is the number we are forecasting, so I don't know how you want to phrase it.  But the reality is at this stage, we don't know what the actual costs are going to be, so we have estimated.  We wanted to come prepared with a calculation as to what the impact of that $25,000 spread over two years would be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me put it this way.  If your actual costs are $100,000 and the Board here approves a forecast of $25,000, are you expecting $25,000 over two years or are you expecting $100,000 over two years?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, you know, that's a hypothetical question, Mr. Buonaguro.  I don't know what the -- you know 25,000 and 100 -- we have some reasonable estimate of $25,000.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps I can ask counsel.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, we won't have a -– or excuse me. Oshawa won't have a clear sense of what the costs are in this proceeding until we see the cost claims of my friends.  What Oshawa has done at this point is they have used $25,000 for costs.  They are proposing to recover $12,500 in -- as part of the rates being requested in this hearing.  As the Board is well aware, there is going to be a review process at the time of rebasing, and overspending and underspending at that point – or excuse me, overspending and underspending issues will be addressed at that point.

Oshawa wishes to recover its costs now.  They think they have come up with a reasonable estimate of the costs for a one-day hearing, including an allowance for costs for the Board.  But we don't know what that figure will be.

We think the 12,500 is a reasonable amount to include in the rates at this point to allow them to start recovering costs.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sidlofsky, I am afraid I am not any further ahead than I was 10 minutes ago on this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I may, are you asking for a deferral account to track the actual costs and to recover the difference at the end of the two years?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir -– sorry, Mr. Vlahos.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  You want the rates to reflect twelve and a half thousand dollars?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  On the assumption that they will be in place for next year, the rates will still reflect 12 and a half thousand?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  So that will recover the forecast $25,000?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  The year following, there will be a cost-of-service review, right?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, and that's when you are going to help us to -- what is the applicant's recommendation or proposal as to – is this -- are they asking for an estimate to be baked in rates and that's set, or they want some kind of a variance mechanism?  That's not clear from the evidence by your panel.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, the Board's supplementary report is clear in that there will be a review of -- there will be a prudence review in respect of the incremental capital applications at the time of rebasing.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sir, this is not incremental capital.  This is not an incremental capital application.  This is a request to reflect in rates an O&M, if you like, costs, so I am not sure how the incremental capital guideline will help us here.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I think Mr. Mahajan has a comment.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  What we are talking about is actual costs.  We don't know at this time what those actual costs would be.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Mahajan, I heard you and it's a fair request.  I am just asking your counsel as to how do we implement this thing?  It's the technical part that I am asking Mr. Sidlofsky.  Are you asking for a variance account deferral account?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, yes, but I am asking for the ability to begin collecting those costs at this time.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right, okay.  So say that the Board does allow the rates to reflect 12 and a half thousand dollars.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay?  All right, so we spend this year and next year, and then what?  And that is what Mr. Buonaguro is asking.

What are you actually requesting other than the rates to reflect 12 and a half thousand dollars as of May 1st, 2009?  Is that the end of the request?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  The costs would be -- that amount for costs would be recovered until the next rebasing.  I expect, though, that –-

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- that will -- the amount recovered in costs will actually be reviewed against the actual costs of this proceeding.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, why do you say that?  From where?  Where are you getting that from, what document?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, only in a manner similar to the way in which the capital expenditures themselves will be reviewed, as set out in the Board's report.

MR. VLAHOS:  Let's forget the incremental capital for a moment.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.


MR. VLAHOS:  Let's talk about cost-of-service review, in 2011, right?  So your understanding is the Board will go back and compare what was in rates and what was achieved and the variance will be dealt with?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, sir, Oshawa -- Oshawa wishes to recover its costs.  It doesn't -- it's not interested in over-recovering its costs in this proceeding.  So it believes that it has come up with a fair estimate at this point and that the cost recovery is reasonable.

There are two ways that the Board could deal with this.  One is by simply providing for a deferral account so that Oshawa incurs those costs and recovers – and recovers them at a later date.  The other way would be to deal with it by way of a variance account where it is recovering the $12,500, and then the balance is reviewed like other -- for example, the RSVA accounts, where when those accounts are reviewed by the Board for clearance, they are reviewed in the context of what has been spent compared to what has been recovered from customers.

MR. VLAHOS:  And that is what -- I think that's what Mr. Buonaguro was trying to get to as to what is the mechanism.  To the extent that it's a forecast, that you want to be whole on this, you don't want to over-earn on this.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No.


MR. VLAHOS:  And you don't want to under-earn either, so he is asking you what is the mechanism that you are proposing.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I apologize.  The mechanism would be an accounting order that would allow them to track the differences in a variance account effectively.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, but you and I, we should have the same understanding as to what a cost-of-service review, though, is.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Cost-of-service review -- leave regulatory costs aside for a minute.  Your expectation is not that in a cost-of-service review, it would be again based on some forward test year, I would think.  Isn't that your understanding?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  So it has nothing to do with truing up the past performance, unless there are things like variance accounts or deferral accounts that would capture any --

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's correct, sir, and Oshawa does expect that this amount would be tracked, the actual costs would be tracked.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Buonaguro, I guess the answer to your question is a variance account.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That is what I was getting at.  That was my understanding based on the discussion.

Now, you have to forgive me if I stumble through this a lit bit, because I wasn't prepared to ask questions specifically on this type of request.  But perhaps you can help me.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, again, we are having the same problem as the time.  It's either the microphone there -- you seem to like the same spot every time.  Can you just move over one and see.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am a creature of habit.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will just move so Mr. Buonaguro can see the panel as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  This third generation IRM application is based on a 2008 base year; correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in your 2008 base year, there would have been an amount included in your O&M expenses for your regulatory cost in some form?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that amount as part of your global revenue requirement for 2008 has escalated under the third generation IRM.

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the third generation IRM structure, and in particular, the capital -- incremental capital module doesn't separately allow you to apply for regulatory costs related specifically to the incremental capital module; correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Come again with that last part.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Part of the problem you are having is that the incremental capital module does not allow for the input of a forecast of costs for this hearing as part of the recovery.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I don't know if it allows or not, but it's silent on that.  Like I said, we did not anticipate that we would go through the extent of this hearing.  So we had not even requested that at the time of the application.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think Mr. -- I think the panel mentioned that the regulatory costs that you're applying for here today, the forecast of $25,000 is an O&M costs.

MR. MAHAJAN:  It would be a part of the O&M costs that we would not have recovered otherwise and we would now recover it should the Board approve, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  All right.  I would like to take the panel to the new exhibit, K1.3, which is the 2009 OEB third generation IRM supplementary filing module summary that you distributed today.  And looking at page 2 of that document, we have the calculation of your threshold being $6,567,275; is that correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that calculation was based on the figures at the top of page 2, price cap index of 0.98 percent, growth of 1.05 percent, and dead band of 20 percent, at least in part, the calculation uses those numbers?


MS. LEPPARD:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that the 0.98 percent price cap index that's used here was based on the assumption that the GDPIPI escalator value would have been 2.1 per cent?


MS. LEPPARD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, yes?


MS. LEPPARD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you can find it in Tab G1.1 of the Excel spreadsheet model.


MS. LEPPARD:  It sounds like the original one that was put in, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm the Board updated this value on March 5th to 2.13 percent.


MS. LEPPARD:  Yes, they did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to advise what the impact of the new value has in the calculation of the incremental capital threshold, and I can give you my -- our rough estimate is it would increase the threshold to about $6.9 million.

MS. LEPPARD:  I haven't done the calculation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You would agree they would increase the threshold.


MS. LEPPARD:  It should increase the threshold.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It might be useful to get the actual calculation on the record, so perhaps I can ask for an undertaking to do the calculation.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.1.  Mr. Buonaguro, what is the undertaking?


MR. BUONAGURO:  The undertaking is to recalculate Oshawa PUC's threshold using the updated figure for the updated figure for the GPDIPI escalator value of 2.3 percent.  Okay.

UNDERTAKING J1.1:  TO RECALCULATE OSHAWA PUC'S THRESHOLD USING THE UPDATED FIGURE FOR THE UPDATED FIGURE FOR THE GPDIPI ESCALATOR VALUE OF 2.3 PERCENT

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me what -- generally speaking, what the impact is of increasing your threshold, assuming my figure is correct, and we are increasing the threshold from approximately $6.56 million to $6.9 million, what will it impact on your --

MR. MAHAJAN:  I guess the incremental capital, capex would be from 5.2 and it would drop down to 4.8 million, because you are going up by $400,000 and then the incremental capital capex, that should be based on our capital expenditure plan for 2009 will drop from 5.2 to 4.8 approximately.

 MR. BUONAGURO:  And would that flow through to a reduction in the incremental revenue requirement claimed because you are piercing a threshold, to a lesser extent.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I know what you are saying, but we had already adjusted the 5.2.  As you know, we were not requested 5.2, we were requesting 3.5.  What we had taken off from 5.2 were projects that were either carry-overs or projects that did not meet some of the criteria.  So I don't think that that would make a change, Mr. Buonaguro, for the 2.2 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I guess it's something we can calculate on our own as well based on the application.  Okay.  I would like to take you to page 3 of 13 of your application, the incremental capital application part of the application.

 Here, you indicate that the total capital budget for 2009 was $11,803,824.  You see that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at Staff IR response 1E, this is the second set of Staff IR responses not the first set, I think they are both numbered one through whatever and I am looking at the second set, Staff number 1E.  You indicate that the capital spending -- I am just pulling it up myself.

MS. LEPPARD:  Do you have a date?

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's page, I think it's page 8 -- sorry page 6 and 7.  I am looking at page 6.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Is this the February 27th?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  When I say the second set, it would be the later set, the February –- yes, phase 2 IR responses.  It's a little confusing because the number is duplicative, they both start at one so you have to go to the part two of the process.

MR. MAHAJAN:  In order not to waste time, perhaps you can just talk about what it is you want to clarify.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  You're indicating in this interrogatory response that the capital spending is $15 million approximately, and that roughly 4.85 million of that is for smart metering.


MR. MAHAJAN:   Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If we subtract 4.85 from the 15million, we get roughly 10.2 million as your total budgeted amount for 2009.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Let me just -- you are taking -- from $15 million, you are taking away $4.8 million; is that what you --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  If you look at page 7 --

MR. MAHAJAN:  See, I don't...

MR. BUONAGURO:  On page 7, you have a total.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Page 7 of 25?


MR. BUAONGURO:  Yes.  You have a total net budget of 15 million?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And if you go to page 6, you say 4.85 of that is smart meters and you don't include that in consideration of this hearing?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And 15 minus 4.85 is approximately 10.2 million?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the question is:  We are getting 10.2 million there.  Why is it that in the application material we have 11.8 million as the capital budget for 2009?  Presuming that that figure doesn't include smart meters either.  It's a difference of approximately --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- 1.6 million?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, I see what you mean.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain the differences between the two figures?  Is it something you can do now or do you want to take an undertaking?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, we will probably come back to that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J1.2, and it is to explain the discrepancy between the figure of $11.8 million for the budget provided in the prefiled application, versus the information provided in Board Staff interrogatory 1E, which suggests a budget of closer to 10.2 million.
UNDERTAKING J1.2:  To explain the discrepancy between the figure of $11.8 million for the budget provided in the prefiled application, versus the information provided in Board Staff Interrogatory 1E, which suggests a budget of closer to 10.2 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Very well put.  I would like to take you to Tab G2.1 of the Board's supplementary filing module.  I am working from the PDF version.  It's approximately -- it's G2.1 of the Board, or sorry, G2 -– yes, G2.1 of the Board's supplementary filing module, and in the PDF, it's around pages 265 to 266.

This illustrates the construction work in progress.  It is one of the things on the page, and I would like you to confirm that according to this, there is no construction work in progress at the end of 2007 or 2008 or 2009 inputted in the model.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So you are talking about the model?

MR. BUONAGURO:  The supplementary filing module.  Just a second.

MR. MAHAJAN:  This is the one that we have filed as an exhibit today?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, no.  No, from the original module.  I mean, I haven't looked at your filing.  I am assuming that probably the same information is in there.  So if you want to point me to the new exhibit, we can look from there too.  I am happy to look there.  I mean, what I am trying to confirm is that construction work in progress, you have assumed zero for all three years.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that means that your assumption is that all capital spending each year is put into service in the same year that it's spent.  That's an underlying assumption for those years, based on the fact that you are not putting construction work in progress numbers in the open and closing balances; is that correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Because to calculate the rate base, I believe we are not allowed to include construction work in progress.


MR. BUAONGURO:  Right.


MR. MAHAJAN:  So if we included that, then that would inflate our rate base.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are saying -- hmm.   So then you are separate -- am I understanding that you are separately tracking construction work in progress somewhere else?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's a part of our balance sheet, but when we do this table, I understand that based on the guidelines you have to take into account just the fixed assets that are complete, which would be called a part of your rate base.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So but the fact that these three numbers are zero in the module suggests that you're not, in any of those years, putting into rate base any construction work in progress from a previous year.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Now, what happens in cases like -- well, for example, at Staff IR 1A in part two of their interrogatories, you talk about substation construction.

MR. MAHAJAN:  1A?

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you look at response A -- and it's actually on the second page, page 2 of 25, at the top of the page -- you talk about:

"OPUCN has adjusted the amount by $1.7 million to exclude capital projects that are included in our approved rate base for which spending carries over from 2008.  Included in this amount is 1.2 million for delaying construction of a new substation."

MR. MAHAJAN:  Mm-hmm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So that was construction work in progress that had been budgeted to be put in service for 2008; is that correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Umm...


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, it was originally budgeted to be spent.

MR. MAHAJAN:  It was budgeted, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It was budgeted to be spent and put into service in 2008; correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And what actually happened in fact is that that spending got pushed over to 2009.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So whatever you spent in 2008 would have been construction work in progress for 2009.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Whatever we spent -- what we are saying is that we -- we were not able to spend that 1.7 million.

I think that -- just to go back to your previous question -- that is the answer to the discrepancy you were talking about between 10.2 and approximately 11.8, that we had taken out the 1.7 million.  I apologize.  You know, it didn't occur at that time.  But that's the answer to that question as to why 11.8 doesn't tally with 10.2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am going to make a note of that.  Perhaps you want to confirm that in the undertaking response?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, well, following on with this interrogatory response, you talk about $1.2 million being attributed to the delay in construction of the new substation.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But then if you look at part B of the same interrogatory --

MR. MAHAJAN:  Just right underneath that paragraph?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes -– or sorry, part C.  You talk about the carryover of $800,000 for the new substation.  So in part A, it looks like you are carrying over $1.2 million –-


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- from 2000 and 2009, but in part C the number is $800,000.

MR. MAHAJAN:  You can explain that.


MR. TURNEY:  Yes.  Actually the $800,000 in part C was a mistake in the response.  It should read $1.2 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I understand said you said the 2008 capital spending, the forecast actual -- I don't know if it's still a forecast, but we understand that it's forecast to be $9.3 million, as opposed to the $11 million as approved by the OEB?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding -- or do we understand correctly, and maybe this is part of the undertaking response, the $1.7 million between the OEB approved and the forecast actual 9.3 million is all being carried over and forms part of your 2009 capital budget?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Mm-hmm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, besides the substation, what other projects are being carried over and contribute to the $1.2 million?

MR. MAHAJAN:  There are certain other projects.  We can give you details, but you know, we just talked about the most substantive project in our response.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So 1.2 million is the substation.  There is another approximately $500,000 for other projects.  Perhaps let's do it by way of undertaking; you can provide an undertaking to describe the other projects that contribute to the $500,000.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.3.
UNDERTAKING J1.3:  To describe Additional projects Carried over from 2008

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now on page 4 of the --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, sorry, something just occurred to me and it is probably best to deal with it now in case it leaves you with you further questions. The response to the interrogatory on the 1.2 million due to the delay of the substation, is the work and it references the delay as due to the current economic conditions.


Is it a time delay, is it indefinite, or is it still going to be completed in 2009?   What is the anticipated completion now?

MR. MAHAJAN:  At this stage, Mr. Quesnelle, we don't know.  We are going to look at the load, you know, sometime around the summertime and possibly we could start the work in fall, that's our expectation, but we will look at the situation sometime at the end of summer.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So it's on hold.  It's not a definite delayed period in which you have a new start update of the construction?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, sir, and if you start in the summer or the fall, how long does it take to complete that project?  Is it weeks, is it months?

MR. MAHAJAN:  It's months.  For sure months.

MR. TURNEY:  Yes, it's probably in the eight- to ten-month range for completion.

MR. VLAHOS:  So it's not going to be in service for 2009?


MR. MAHAJAN:  No.

MR. VLAHOS:  As we stand today, this is not going to be in service for 2009?


MR. TURNEY:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I was talking you to page 4 of the incremental capital section of your entire 2009 application.  Here is where you are talking about applying for $3.5 million dollars in incremental capital spending, understanding that it has been updated, understanding that you are updating that today with the other exhibit, but for the purpose of the question this is sufficient.


So you are applying for $3.5 million in incremental spending, according to this, and then back on page 3 you --looking at this, we note that the amount by which your 2009 capital budget exceeds the threshold, I guess the old calculation of the threshold but which is being excluded from the application is about $1.7 million, so I think you actually exceed the threshold by 3.5 million plus 1.7, but then you exclude the $1.7 million?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it just a coincidence that that figure is identical to the figure for amounts that are carrying over from 2008 or is there a direct link between the two figures?  It's just not clear on the application.

MR. MAHAJAN:  You are talking about 11.8 and 10.2?

MR. BUONAGURO:  We talked about $1.7 million in spending being carried over, 1.2 related to the substations and 500,000 for other things being carried over from 2008, having not been spent in 2008, even though it had originally been planned, moved to 2009, but then it appears that you have backed that out.  It appears to us that that is what you have backed out of your 2009 capital budget so you are not asking for incremental capital spending for that amount.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that directly what has happened?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, 1.7 is a part of that expenditure that wasn't spent, so obviously we can't include that again in the incremental capital expenditure.  So the short answer is yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I’m just clarifying that that is specifically what you backed out of your 2009 capital budget as being not subject to the request for incremental capital.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.  The amounts that we had already -- they were already in our rate base.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Can you tell me if Oshawa capitalizes its overheads?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, it does.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me what the rate capitalization rate was for 2008 and 2009 or what you used in 2008 and what you are proposing to use for 2009?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Not offhand.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You provided the capitalization policy at Staff interrogatory 1D, part two interrogatories 1D, but I don’t think it talks about the rates for 2008 or 2009.
MR. MAHAJAN:  What we do, Mr. Buonaguro, is we follow the OEB guidelines for various different drivers, you know, there's for labour, there's for -- there is a separate driver for vehicles, engineering, materials, so I am not sure what percentage are you exactly asking for but we follow those guideline for capitalization.  Each one has a different driver, for example.  So for materials, it would be based on the issuance of materials as a total activity, and the same for rolling stock, we use the actual hourly rate for different vehicles.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can I take you to, and we looked at this before, Staff interrogatory part 2, 1E, page 7 it's the table of capital budget summary for 2009.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Page 7?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  When we looked at this, it appeared to us that engineering was the only overhead being capitalized, but I guess we are reading this wrong.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, there are four components as for the OEB policy, we follow that.  So there a component in labour, there is a component for overheads and materials, vehicles, and in engineering.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I asked you about the 2008 and 2009 actual capitalization rates.  Could you provide an undertaking to tell me what the 2008 --

MR. MAHAJAN:  You want the amounts.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The amounts and the rates that those were –

MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, as far as rates is concerned it’s just really following the OEB policy.  And as for the amounts that are included in these are concerned, we can undertake to provide this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I went through this in the Hydro One capital module, and I think what happened is you determined an amount and that derives a rate.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Like I said, for each different class component there would be a different driver.  For vehicles, for instance, it would be just number of hours on a bucket truck would have one rate than any other type of a truck.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps the undertaking will be a summary of the overhead capitalization that occurred in 2008 and 2009, and I presume that would include the amounts for each category that were capitalized in 2008 and 2009, and then from that you can tell us how the rate changed from 2008 to 2009.  So for example, in Hydro One, the rate went from 8.7 percent, I believe, in 2008 to 10.2 --

MR. MAHAJAN:  What do you mean by "rate," the percentage of the total cost?


MR. BUONAGURO:  The percentage that was applied to each capital.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Percentage of what?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I assist here, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be helpful, thanks.


MR. QUESNELLE:  My understanding of it is that there may be a starting point where there is a projection of what the burden allocation would be for each of the categories that you are talking about, and then as you progress through the year - and let's take 2008 for example - as you progress through the year, it's kind of an activity encumbrance type of costing in that as the trucks are utilized, they would draw on that particular rate but then you would do an update from your projection to your actual.  So at the end of 2008, you would have an amount that you actually -- it is an actual amount of what the overall attraction of your capital spend program was of your overheads.  Whether or not the overheads went to OM&A or to capital, you would have started at beginning of the year with a projection, but at year-end, you would have a true-up to what the actual attraction of those amounts were.

I think Mr. Buonaguro would be informed by what that was for 2008 and what are you planning on doing for 2009 with that same number, to see what the differences is.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's the undertaking, exactly what he said.


MR. MILLAR:  Whatever it is, it is J1.4.
UNDERTAKING J1.4:  TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF OVERHEAD CAPITALIZATION IN 2008 AND FORECAST FOR 2009

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  I am moving to a new topic.  I don't know what the Board's plans were for breaks.

MR. VLAHOS:  We will talk our morning break.  Twenty minutes, please.

--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:25 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Can I ask the panel to turn up VECC interrogatory part 5A from the part 2 interrogatory responses?  There is a table there.

MR. MAHAJAN:  What page is it?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just give me a second.  Page 12 of 17.  It says "summary of the capital budgets and actual capital costs for the years 2005 to 2008", and you will see where it says for the 2008 budget, you have put in here total gross costs before capital contributions, $10.2 million, approximately; do you see that?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I would like you to compare that to -- well, we can actually look at one of the new exhibits here, K1.3, page 3.


Okay.  Under fixed assets and cumulative depreciation, line 3, capital additions, for 2008 rebasing you have a figure of just a shade under $11 million; do you see that?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you explain why those two numbers would be different, because it looks like -– well, there is an obvious $800,000 discrepancy between what's reported in your interrogatory response and the 2008 rebasing.  Do you know off the top of your head why there would be different numbers?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's just from the rebasing application as to what the final decision was.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Well, it appears that you budgeted 10.2 for 2008, and the Board for some reason approved an $11 million capital budget.  So I am trying to understand if that's what I should infer from that, because I would have thought that at least your budgeted amount and -– your budgeted amount would likely be the same or more than what the Board approved for 2008.  That is what I would have expected, so that is why I am asking for an explanation.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.  When we did this budget, this was after -- the Board decision came sometime in the middle of 2008, and at that point in time, certain projects were already delayed.  So we didn't want to compare the actuals to projects that would not get done.  I don't know specifically which one, but that would be the reason, so our capital budgeting process up until a certain point in time takes into account what we have forecast in 2007 for this particular exercise.


But once this decision was made, you know, we
didn't -– I mean, we adjusted it for what was realistic to have as a target for completion in 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So okay, so this $10.2 million figure that appears in the interrogatory response at page 12 is not the budgeted figure going into 2008 which would have been presented to the Board?


MR. MAHAJAN:  It is not the same figure that we had estimated in 2007 when we filed the rebasing application.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It's some sort of mid-year revised budget?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But we don't know precisely when or precisely the drivers, at least not right now.

MR. MAHAJAN:  It's got to be sometime after March, because I know we have done an update.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


Some of my questions have been partially answered by your presentation this morning, which is a good thing.  It will take less time.  I had one clarification question, though, on -- with respect to the concrete pole program.  We had an interrogatory response at 3C, which is a table of capital costs.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Mr. Buonaguro, what page is that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I am going to tell you in a second, if you could -- it's at page --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Seven.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, seven and eight.  I was looking at particularly under "IRM application projects, reliability and safety" you have got concrete pole replacement.  You have a figure here of $250,000 as opposed to the 210,000 that you spoke about today.  Is that a mistake, or is there some reason why 250,000 appears here?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Where are you looking at?  Oh, are you looking at page eight of 17?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. MAHAJAN:  We apologize.  That's actually not even 250,000.  That's 25,000.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, yes, I see what you're saying.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, so it –-


MR. MAHAJAN:  So –-


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- should have been 210,000?


MR. MAHAJAN:  -- it should be okay, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry about that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  No problem.  Thank you.

Now, you talked about the long-term load transfer project?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And to summarize my understanding, when you originally applied, you had a deadline of January 31st 2009; correct?  And you applied –- at the same time you were working under that deadline you applied for and were granted an extension to 2011; is that correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then you acknowledged in your chief -– your in-chief evidence that the Board has recently proposed an amendment pushing the date out to 2014 for all distributors.


MR. TURNEY:  That's correct.  The end of June 2014.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, you may be revisiting some of your comments in-chief, but doesn't that mean that you have the discretion to rework this plan for a term of five years as opposed to the first month of 2009?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's true.  I mean we do have that discretion, but like I -– like I said in the opening remarks that there are other drivers beside the regulatory driver, in terms of building the reliability in the system and also ensuring, as Mr. Turney had mentioned in his comments, that it would help us service the thousand-odd customers.


Mr. Turney, would you like to expand on that?


MR. TURNEY:  Yes, there's approximately 6- to 700 customers on that feeder, and so there are other drivers besides the strictly regulatory requirement in allowing us to update the feeder.  It will improve the reliability for the customers connected to the feeder.  It will also prepare us for the smart grid and generation connections that we're expecting in that area of our service territory.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, based on what you've said now and based on what you said in your in-chief, I'd like to try and summarize my understanding of what happens if you don't do the project this year, but rather spread it out over 2014.


Is it true that the impact of not doing the project all in 2009 but rather spreading it out over a number of years is that you don't obtain the increased reliability that you project you'll get by doing the projects?  Is that what you're missing if you don't do the project?


MR. TURNEY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there any projected degradation of reliability, or is it basically status quo if you don't do the project and then increased reliability benefits if you do do the project?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I think it's not a question of degradation of reliability.  It's a question of enhancement of reliability, because we will be picking up new customers, as Mr. Turney said, in that part of Oshawa, which would help us build some redundancy by completing that loop.  That allows us to enhance the reliability for our customers, so it's not a question of degradation.  It's a question of enhancement of reliability.


Would that be correct, Mr. Turney?


MR. TURNEY:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, in terms of the elimination of long-term load transfers, my understanding is there are two options.  One, the current distributor of record - which I guess in this case is you, Oshawa PUC – can build the facilities that can physically serve the customer, which is what you're proposing to do; correct?  Yes?


MR. TURNEY:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm getting all agreement with nods but I need it on the record.  Thank you.  The other option, though, would be amend the service area so that the customers that are in the service area of the distributor that is currently serving them would take over for those customers.  That's the other option; correct?


MR. TURNEY:  There is that option, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Did Oshawa PUC undertake analysis i.e., a business case or cost-benefit analysis to justify why it would be appropriate for Oshawa to spend the dollars on facilities to service these customers as opposed to simply transferring to the other distributor, in this case Hydro One Networks?

MR. TURNEY:  We did an analysis.  We performed an analysis on the best option for what we believed those customers would look at, and we determined through that analysis that it was in our best interest to construct a facility and we did that analysis in conjunction with Hydro One as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is that analysis part of the application?


MR. TURNEY:  We submitted our plan that -- as part of this application, we submitted that plan that we had submitted to the Ontario Energy Board to allow a four-year extension to complete the work. I don't recall whether it's part of that submission or not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it might be in the application in terms of your actual plan, but it may also be the case that the underlying analysis of whether that plan or the other plan which is Hydro One taking over for the customers is the better anxious; that analysis may not be there.

MR. TURNEY:  It may not be there.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that something that you can provide by way of undertaking?


MR. TURNEY:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we are at J1.5 now, and that's to provide the economic analysis underlying the decision to keep the LTLT customers within Oshawa service territory as opposed to transferring them to Hydro One.
UNDERTAKING J1.5:  TO PROVIDE ECONOMIC ANALYSIS TO KEEP CUSTOMERS WITH OPUC INSTEAD OF TRANSFERRING THEM TO HYDRO ONE


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I would like to ask you some questions about the concrete pole replacement.  Our understanding is the scope of the proposed spending has been reduced dramatically.  Our understanding and this is in round two IRs the Staff number 2C, our understanding is that your concrete poles are all fully depreciated; is that true?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And this means generally they are --reached the end of their in-service life; correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  As a result, wouldn't it be reasonable to expect they would have to be replaced soon, in any event?


MR. MAHAJAN:  If we go by that, there are a lot of, Mr. Buonaguro, there is a lot of infrastructure in the Province of Ontario if not North America would have to be replaced.  I think what we have done is we have used a subject matter expert team to come up with the analysis that even though the assets have been depreciated, we replace them only when there is a need to replace them based on, you know our analysis, engineering analysis of the condition of those poles.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And in line with that, you mentioned - I think you mentioned in-chief the specific interrogatory but it's interrogatory response 6A in part 2 of Board Staff’s interrogatories, you update your estimates to -- well originally, you had proposed 217 poles to be replaced and now you are saying you only need to do 30.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain why it wouldn't be reasonable to expect that those 30 poles would be covered by the normal replacement budget? I think your 2009 pole replacement budget is 240,000.  Wouldn't that be targeted to those poles?


MR. MAHAJAN:  What do you mean by "normal replacement budget"?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you have a pole replacement budget for every year, you have a normal pole replacement budget, do you not?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I think that was -- we may be mixing up Mr. Turney can clarify, but we may be mixing up the wood pole replacement with concrete pole replacement.


MR. TURNEY:  Yes, that's correct.  The 240,000 in what we call the normal budget was for wood pole replacement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that might help.  In VECC IR number 1C at part 2.  It says here that you had $203,030 spent in 2008 at pole replacement, but I am looking here now more closely and you are saying that is wood pole replacement.


MR. MAHAJAN:  That is correct.


MR. TURNEY:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So was there a budget for concrete pole replacement in 2008, was there money spent in 2008 pole replacement in 2008.


MR. TURNEY:  No, there was not targeted concrete pole replacement.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in 2008, the pole replacement budget submitted to the Board for your 2008 rate rebasing application was $550,000, does that sound familiar?  I don't know if you have your evidence from that case on hand but it would be Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 3, page 15, which says that your 2008 pole replacement budget globally was $550,000; does that sound familiar, subject to check?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, um-hmm.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And there was under-spending in 2008 on your pole replacement budget of $346,700.


MR. MAHAJAN:  If that's the number, I guess that's the math that works out.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think how works out that you had a budget of 550,000 as part of your 2008 rate application.  You have confirmed through this IR that you have spent $250,300 on wood pole replacement which means that you underspent by $346,700; correct?  Now, that's significantly more than the $210,000 that you're putting back in for 2009 for concrete pole replacement; correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Wouldn't that be enough then obviously to cover the cost of the concrete pole replacement?


MR. MAHAJAN:  We still have to do the wood pole replacement.  These are the projects, Mr. Buonaguro, that were carried over from 2008 to 2009.  One was that substation that you talked about, and I think we will submit as part of our undertaking one of the other projects, this would be one of the other projects.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see. I think that number was there, there is $500,000 of other projects which were carried over, and you anticipate that as much of 346,000 might be carried over from the wood pole replacement, but we will see in the undertaking.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right, right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to ask you some questions about the distribution system reliability improvement project.  I understand that this project involves the replacement of a "poorly performing feeder" according to page 10 of the incremental capital application; is that...


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And according to a response at VECC number 3A, the line involved is 45 years old?  I may -- it looks like I’m going quicker because I assume once I say 45 years, you will remember that that's true?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  For the application record, page 10, it's constructed to "outdated standards."


MR. TURNEY:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is the poor performance of this feeder a recent issue or has it been an issue for a few years?


MR. TURNEY:  It has been degrading for few years.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now according to Staff IR part 2 Staff IRs, No. 12C, I am going to paraphrase, it says that the risk/value ranking of this project was such that it did not make the cut for the basic 2009 budget; is that fair?  You can pull up the interrogatory response, but I think that's a fair summary.


MR. TURNEY:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Does that mean the projects included in the base budget for 2009 are expected to make a greater contribution to reliability improve than this project.


MR. TURNEY:  Those projects that are reliability-driven in the 2009 budget, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, your answer suggests that there are projects in the 2009 budget which are not reliability-driven and therefore may not increase liability as much as this project will or would have.


MR. TURNEY:  There are projects that are not necessarily completely reliability-driven.  That's correct.  They can be driven by road works programs, whereby we have to relocate plant to facilitate road work.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I am just trying to find a reference here.  Looking at Staff IR part 2, 12C, this is page 20 of the part 2 IR responses to Board Staff.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  "On page 25 of the decision -–" I am reading from part C:

"On page 25 of the decision rendered for rate case EB-2007-0150, OPUCN received specific direction from the Board with respect to reliability of service.  'As service reliability is most important to customers, the Board expects the company to be vigilant about its service reliability performance going forward and to ensure that the capital expenditures authorized by the Board do result in substantial improvements in that regard.'"


That suggests to me that -- and perhaps you won't agree -- but that suggests to me that in terms of making capital budget decisions for 2009, you were expected to prefer reliability improvements over non-reliability-based improvements; do you agree with that general proposition?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Come again with that; do we prefer to plan our capital budget based on reliability drivers?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I didn't ask if you prefer it.  The Board's decision suggests to me that you were supposed to prefer reliability-based capital expenditures over non-reliability-based expenditures; do you agree with that general proposition?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Flowing from that decision?  Yes?


Can you explain to me, then, why this project, which is a reliability-driven improvement, was trumped by other non-reliability-based capital expenditures?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I think in any given year, Mr. Buonaguro, we have lots of feeders that we can replace.  There is only so much resource we have, not just in terms of capital but also in terms of manpower.  Whether we do it in-house or we outsource it, we still have to make sure that the job gets done.


On top of it, we have situations where we have to respond to missed -- you know, Region of Durham's road widening projects or any Ministry of Transportation's 401-related projects that we have to respond to.


So we are constantly adjusting, but that's not to suggest that the feeders that we want to get to, which would improve our customer service and our reliability, we don't endeavour to get to those.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, of the projects that did make it into the budget which were reliability -- or sorry, driven by reliability concerns, my understanding is that some of those projects may not have contributed as much to reliability as this project.


I am putting that inelegantly.  Are there projects that contribute to reliability improvements which ranked lower on their ability to improve reliability than this project?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Are there projects that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me put it this way.  If you turn up VECC number 3D.


MR. MAHAJAN:  3D?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is part 2.  It may not seem like it, but it is coming together for me, so you can take solace in that.


Under 2009 projects, we asked you as part of this interrogatory response to provide the risk mitigation ranking.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And just looking at the 2009 projects, we were wondering why, for example, the rebuild of the Farewell Wentworth project, which has a risk ranking of 9.5, which is low compared to -- if you look down under "IRM application projects" distribution system reliability improvement, which has a ranking of 11.18.


That's a higher risk ranking; correct?  That's the one that contributes more to reliability, I guess you would call it.


And I was asking about why an 11.18 would be excluded but a 9.5 would be included, and I think what's coming together here is that you have got the rebuild of the Farewell Wentworth program under "system planning" as a category?


MR. TURNEY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  As opposed to reliability and safety?


MR. TURNEY:  That's correct.  That's a different driver.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So these –- okay.


So and then if we look at all the reliability safety projects for 2009 in isolation, they all have rankings of 12.07 or higher; correct?


MR. TURNEY:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it your evidence, then, that as between reliability safety projects, obviously the distribution system reliability improvement project is lower than everything else you propose to do?


MR. TURNEY:  That's correct.  It was the next lowest on our list.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


Now, back to IR number 12C from the Board staff.  Part of your response, you state that the work, i.e., the distribution system reliability improvement work, is clearly nondiscretionary, based on the direction from the Board that I read out earlier; do you recall that from the evidence?


MR. TURNEY:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the Board's decision only states that Oshawa must ensure capital expenditures approved by the Board results in a substantial improvement of reliability; would you agree with that?


MR. TURNEY:  Can you restate that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Our reading is that only capital expenditures approved by the Board need to result in a substantial improvement of reliability.  It isn't that -- you seem to be suggesting that it's nondiscretionary because the Board told you to do every project that improves reliability.


But the decision actually says when we come forward to approve reliability-based project -- this is what we understand it to say -- you have to ensure that the ones that you are doing actually improve reliability.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, it's the Board's report, not a decision.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, sir, this was the Board's decision on –-


MR. VLAHOS:  This is a decision?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, it was, on Oshawa's 2008 --


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, sorry.  I apologize.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- cost-of-service application.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I quoted the Board file number too.  But thank you for that.


My point being is that you seem to be -- you seem to be interpreting that direction as requiring you to do this project, when in fact all it does is say:  When you're putting forward your capital budget and pick a suite or reliability-based projects, ensure that you're maximizing the reliability; would you agree with my characterization of the Board's direction?


MR. TURNEY:  Yes.  I believe the Board's direction supports our argument for the project.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you go so far as to say that it requires the project?


MR. TURNEY:  Not on its own.  I think it's one of the supporting factors, but not only.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


I am on my last bit of questioning, and this has to do with the mobile workforce project.


Now, I think you will agree with me that a third generation IRM term is based on a rebase year, and for you that's 2008, plus three years of automatic adjustments under the third generation IRM mechanism; yes?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, looking at Staff IR number 16B, I think it's part 2, you were asked about the annual savings from the mobile workforce initiative, and you state that they are expected to be roughly $88,000 per year.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that these are manpower savings?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And those types of savings would generally translate into OM&A savings.


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  During the IRM period up to three years, you confirm that there will be no rate reduction over the rate reduction period to reflect those OM&A savings.

MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm then the project spending, which is according to K1.2, a capital cost of $254,000 --

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- during the course of IRM will be offset by $88,000 per year in OM&A savings.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, that's what the table suggests.  But let me just, Mr. Buonaguro, if I may, walk you through how the project delivers those results.  It's not from day one.  When you implement any of these software projects, you don't start seeing the results from day one or day ten.  I mean, there's a lot of learning curve you have to go through when you implement these kind of software projects.
I want to take a minute and explain why this is so critical and why this is something that we considered non-discretionary.

Oshawa has already made investments based on our previous capital plans that we have submitted where we have updated our GIS system, we have updated our SCADA system, and this is an add on to our integrated GIS and SCADA systems to get the benefits out in the field, so that when these people who are work managers in the field, they have a set of drawings they are supposed to construct the plant to.  They find changes, they can make those changes right there in the field.  Now, this doesn't happen overnight.  This will take some time before people get trained to utilize the system.

So I don’t know, today, as we sit here today, I don't
know when that would be, but this is something that Oshawa would continuously monitor, and that's the end goal is to see that people get trained to get full advantage of these tools that are being put in place and ensure that the kind of things that they need to do.

One thing that comes out of the top of my head is the issue of updating these construction drawings that today what happens is they construct, they go into the field to make -- to construct based on the engineering drawings.  The situation in the field is totally different.  There are lots of twists and turns that were not anticipated, so they make those changes, but those drawings are now physically sent back to the engineering department where sometimes there is a backlog.  With this tool, they will be able to make those changes instantly.  So now we may not need, once these people are fully trained, a technician in the tech services department.

Would that happen in one year or is it two years?  I would be speculating wildly if I said I could give you that answer today.  But that's why we are doing this project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then looking at same response, mobile workforce, question 16 response at part B.  And we have the table on page 24/25.  Is this your best estimate at this time of the payback period of three years?

MR. MAHAJAN:  This is our best estimate of the payback period that, when you asked us the question, we felt obliged to provide you the response.  But it doesn't tell me when the three years would start.  Once the project is complete, once the people are trained, once we are comfortable that the people in the field can take control of a lot of things that are done at the back office, it's only at that point in time we would see the savings from possibly a natural attrition.


I mean we are not at this stage planning anything that would suggest that, you know, we are going to lay off a certain individual once this tool is put in place.  We do know, based on our HR plan, that there are going to be natural attritions.  So we are hoping that the timing would coincide and when we take a look at the table you are quite right in your line of questioning, but the reality is when you implement these projects, it takes a little bit of time before you get the benefits in HR savings.

So I can't say that -- what I am saying is, Mr. Buonaguro, that these three years do not coincide with our rebasing; therefore, what's the need for this incremental capital adjustment.

I hope that they do, but I know, as I sit here today, that it is impractical for me to assume that, you know, people would be trained as soon as this mobile workforce management solution is put in place.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you those are my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

Mr. DeVellis, I take it you wish to wait until after the lunch break.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That would probably be best, because Mr. Buonaguro has canvassed much of what I was going to --

MR. VLAHOS:  Can I just canvas between Mr. Millar and yourself how long you expect to be.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I estimate 20 minutes or so.

MR. MILLAR:  Depending what my friend covers, not more than 20 minutes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  With that, then, Mr. Sidlofsky, the panel would prefer to have a written argument process intervenors and reply argument by the company, but you would have to, if you chose to, exercise your option to have argument in-chief it should be done orally today at the end of the cross-examination; is that okay, sir?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's fine, sir.  I do have some comments.  Of course there are outstanding undertakings that may have an impact on what we would say in reply, but I can make some closing comments today.

MR. VLAHOS:  That is fine.  Can I ask the two parties or three parties, any concerns about the request for interim rates for May 1st?

MR. MILLAR:  Not from me, sir.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe it's the first I’ve heard of this today so I think I would have to get instructions on that.  So I don't think I could comment at this time.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, anything from you?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have no objection to an order allowing for interim rates subject to what I think is the obvious is that when we make our submissions, we can mark arguments of what the effective date should be, presumably the order would be without prejudice to those.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, sir, that's always open to the parties and the Board's articulation of that is to always make sure that this is there.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I apologize, Mr. Vlahos, on that basis we have the same position we don't have objections to that.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  Then we will return in an hour.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:04 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:04 p.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Any preliminary matters before we continue with Mr. DeVellis?

MS. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, sorry, if I might, you mentioned just before the break the -- or you raised the question of whether anyone had a concern about interim rates, just before we took the lunch break.  I just want to be clear in my understanding of which rates those are.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I suppose my first question would be:  Are you considering the proposed adder that we are dealing with in part two to be the interim rate that the Board would issue an order in respect of, or is it the --


MR. VLAHOS:  No, Mr. Sidlofsky, those would be the rates that they are -– that were approved on March 20th, is it?


MS. SIDLOFSKY:  So those would be the part one rates that would be declared interim; correct?  Pending --


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, the rates that were approved on March 20th.  And I had a copy of the decision and order in front of me now.  So those were the rates that would be declared interim, so they would provide an ability for the Board to go back to May 1st, 2009 for any adjustments that arise from this application.  Okay?


So there would be effective date so that in terms of how the rates will change or may change going forward, that's -- it's a separate matter, but we need an effective date to go back to if we're inclined to go back to it.


MS. SIDLOFSKY:  Oh, no, I do understand that, sir.  It is just that it wasn't entirely clear whether it was the part one or two rate that you were going to declare interim.


MR. VLAHOS:  It's the part one rate that –-


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  I guess we will make the decision now, so the intervenors have no concern about this, so the Board does declare those rates interim, which have not yet been implemented but they are to be implemented May 1st, 2009.


And those are the rates that arise out of the Board's decision and order dated March 20th, 2009.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Sir, Mr. Buonaguro has asked me to advise the Board that he hasn't abandoned the hearing.  He has had to go next door to the other hearing.

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeVellis:


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good afternoon, panel.  I would like to start with the summary of your capital budget that's found in your responses to Board Staff interrogatories.  It's at page 7 of the Board Staff interrogatories, and this was in response to interrogatory 1E, 7 of 25.  Can you tell me when you have that?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I just wanted to get some numbers clear.  So your total 2009 capital budget is 15.1 million, right?  And then from that you back out the smart meter portion, which is 4,851,000; correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and then you the IRM, what you have called the IRM projects, the incremental projects?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  It is 3,533,000?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That was the original amount; correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Before the adjustment for the concrete pole?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and so the difference between, I believe it was 1.5 million originally for the concrete poles?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And it's now 210,000?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And the difference is 1,311,800; correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, so if you back that out, as well, from your total, in other words you back out the 4,851,000 for smart meters and then you back out the difference between the original amount and the updated amount for concrete poles -- the difference being 1.3 million -- I get a total 2009 capital budget of $8,846,520.  Will you take that, subject to check?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Will you take that, subject to check?


MR. MAHAJAN:  What -- the part that we are missing is the 1.7 million that is a carry-forward from the previous year, and this is the undertaking that we have given to Mr. Buonaguro to check.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  No, that is not included on this table; correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  No.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And I thought you agreed that portion of the capital budget is not -- you wouldn't count that in terms of your threshold amount.


MR. MAHAJAN:  That is correct, but you know, the question was how do you reconcile 10.2 to 11.8.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, no, no, I'm not -- I understand what you are saying, but that is not what I am trying to do.  I am just trying to get at what the amount now is, in terms of applying it to the threshold amount, and that's the amount -- what I think the amount is.  What I'm asking you to agree with is $8,846,000.


MR. MAHAJAN:  So you -- from 10.2, you are taking off?


MR. DeVELLIS:  The 1.3 million.


MR. MAHAJAN:  1.3, okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And so I get a final amount of $8,846,520.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I think your -- originally the threshold was -- that you identified, the incremental capital threshold was 6.5 million?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And you were going to update that in response to an undertaking request from Mr. Buonaguro this morning, but he estimated it was about 6.9 million now.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So that would leave –- that would mean your threshold -- you're 1.7 million above threshold, assuming that his number is correct and assuming my number is correct?


MR. MAHAJAN:  You arrived at 8.3?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Eight point eight or 8.9 million, the revised capital amount.  And assuming the new threshold amount is -- I believe you 6.9 million, so that's about 1.9 million above the threshold?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I understand what you are asking.  The excess over the threshold is -- originally as we had calculated was 5.2 million.  So with that update, subject to check, it would drop down to 4.8.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.

MR. MAHAJAN:  The projects that we have submitted, the revised project estimate is 2.2 million.  So, you know, we could look at it various different ways and I know the approach you were taking, but if you take a look at 2.2 million is our project -- updated project cost estimate; that is still below the threshold amount of $4.8 million.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I think the difference is that your -- the 5.2, you are starting from your total capital budget of 11.8 million?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Including the projects that were carried over from 2008?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I thought that we weren't including those, going back to the table on page --


MR. MAHAJAN:  No, for applying that test, we are, right?  So 11.8, less whatever that threshold driven by the Board's formula, gives you the excess, and from that excess we are saying we are not requesting for that be treated as a part of the incremental capital.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I think that is where we differ, then.  We can leave it to argument, but I think that's where we differ in terms of how you apply the threshold.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And I think you are saying you include all the projects, and I guess what I am suggesting to you is you don't include the projects that are carried over from 2008.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Our understanding of that threshold test is probably different than what you are suggesting.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, fair enough.  We can leave that to argument, then.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry, I have to backtrack a second, because I forgot to go over one thing that I wanted to go over from this morning's testimony.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry, I couldn't hear that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I just need to backtrack a second.


With respect to your claim of $25,000 in costs?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I assume that's part of your regulatory OM&A budget.  That's a component of your regulatory OM&A budget?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, right now it's not in our OM&A, but if -– when we spend that money, it would go into our OM&A.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  No, sorry, that's what I meant.  And I assume you had a forecast for your regulatory costs for 2008?


MR. MAHAJAN:  You mean when we filed for the rebasing application?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, we did.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Would you be able to provide that to me?


MR. MAHAJAN:  For sure.  As an undertaking, or do you want it right now?


MR. DeVELLIS:  What I am getting at, I'm trying to get at the 2008 forecast for regulatory costs, which is I assume what would be included in your revenue requirement for 2009.


MR. MAHAJAN:  I am recalling from memory here, so we can check that to see if it helps you in your, you know, line of thinking today.


We had at that point in time estimated a regulatory cost for rebasing application, strictly for rebasing application, as approximately about $180,000.  The Board had suggested that, you know, you should recover that over three years.  So 60,000 a year is what we have in our approved rates, which is to recover the costs that we have already spent.  And as a matter of fact, we had spent a little more than what we had estimated at that time.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Mahajan, I have got the decision here, and just so the record will be clear, the company had requested total forecast expense relating to the 2008 rates application of $150,600, and the Board agreed to that amount but to be recovered amortized over three years, but it did allow for some additional monies to recognize time value of money.  So as it turns out it was $53,000 that it was part of your base rates for 2008.


I guess my question is:  Are those the only regulatory costs that are reflected in your rates or those are only those only relate to the 2008 rates application?

MR. MAHAJAN:  That was -- the 150 was related to the 2008 rebasing application.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So there must be some additional provisions for regulatory expenses.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Those would be provisions related to the OEB costs, the license costs.  I don't have the exact costs, but we can get back to you on that.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, is that also what you are looking for?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  I should have been clearer about this, I suppose.  What I am looking for is the 2008 regulatory costs.   I think the rebasing application are extraordinary costs for that year, so I am really looking for the 2008 regulatory costs excluding the rebasing costs and then a forecast of your 2009 regulatory costs.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So Mr. DeVellis, the costs that are in that regulatory, you know, 2008 revenue requirement are strictly related to the OEB annual licensing costs and other such costs but it does not include any projected or anticipated costs such as these.  Does that help?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That’s what I was trying to get at, was the difference between the two years.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So all we had done was we had taken historically what had been our regulatory licensing costs and so on, and in think OEB had provided an update as to what would be the forecast 2008 annual licence fee so we had included that in that there was no provision for hearings such as these.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, that is fine.  I think it is clear now, I don't think I will need the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  No undertaking.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, sorry, do you still need an undertaking or...

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I don't think I do, because I think that what the witness has said is the previous regulatory costs excluding the rate application would have very little in it but -- and for the '09 it would be the same except for the costs of this hearing.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Absolutely.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you have the School Energy Coalition interrogatory in front of you?  I am looking at number 1, page 1.  Now, what we asked for here is -- part of what we asked for is a listing, well:

"Please file the full capital budget for 2009 of 11.8 million using the applicant's normal categories of capital spending and a list providing details of all projects over the materiality threshold."

Do you see that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  In response you referred us to the Board Staff interrogatory 1E which is the table we were just looking at.  But I don't see a list of projects, I mean, we have a list of the four projects that you call the incremental projects, but we don't have a list of all of your 2009 projects.  Is that somewhere in your application?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Ms. Leppard.

MS. LEPPARD:  The entire list of projects?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, that meet the materiality threshold.

MS. LEPPARD:  There were only the four, though, right?

MR. DeVELLIS:  The confusion, I think, is our use of the term "materiality threshold," and I am assuming -- I didn't draft these interrogatories, but I think what is being referred to are the Board's materiality thresholds.  Not the IRM materiality threshold, but the materiality threshold that we are used to seeing in a cost-of-service application.  You describe the projects over a certain amount.

MS. LEPPARD:  I don't – no, those weren't in there.  We were looking at the other...

MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. Leppard, I can’t hear you.  I don’t know about the reporter.

THE COURT REPORTER:  I can hear her, but she’s faint.  I don’t know if her microphone is on.


MS. LEPPARD:  The list -- we interpreted materiality to be the materiality for this application so that the list we gave you is the list of the four.  We didn't do a list of any other type.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, would you be able to provide me with a list of all of your projects for the 2009 capital plan?

MR. TURNEY:  Yes, we can do that.  And is it subject to a materiality test or the complete list?

MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe there is a materiality test that's used in the cost-of-service application so...

MR. MAHAJAN:  So we would only look at those projects -- so if I was to do a reconciliation of 11.8 million, you want to look at only those projects that are above that materiality test of 2008 rebasing year; is that correct?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I think as long as there is not a big chunk that's not explained.  I think I want to have the whole -- as much of the total explained as possible.


The reason I’m asking this is I think the way you have interpreted the IRM guidelines is to identify projects that put you over the materiality threshold for the IRM module, but the way we interpret the IRM module is you look at the plan as a whole and so each project has to be evaluated for whether it's discretionary or not discretionary.  So that's why I wanted a list of the whole project.  The second part I was going to ask you is to discuss whether the projects are discretionary or not.

MR. MAHAJAN:  I can see that in the interpretation you have and we have is different, so we will certainly take the Board's guidance on that.  But, you know, if it is required we will provide you with anything that is necessary.

MR. MILLAR:  So the undertaking is J1.6.

MR. VLAHOS:  Wait a minute, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Sidlofsky, you were going for the mic.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I was making a dive for it, sir.


I don't want to stand in the way of Mr. DeVellis getting the information he is looking for, but if part of what he is looking for is an interpretation at this point from Oshawa as to materiality and what projects are supposed to be considered, I am just trying to understand exactly what Mr. DeVellis wants in his undertaking.

MR. VLAHOS:  As I understand it, and I am putting words if your mouth is what the Board may -- I think the terminology we use is "major projects" that we do ask what are the, you know, list them and describe the major project that would make up particular budget, capital budget requests.


Mr. DeVellis, is that what you are looking for?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, that is part of it.  The other part is to discuss the extent to which they are discretionary and not discretionary.  The reason I ask that, sir, is the way it's been presented is:  This is our budget and these are the four projects that put us over the IRM materiality threshold; and our point is, well, there is no magic in which order you put the budgets in.  They just happen to describe these four budgets –- sorry, projects as the incremental projects, but in our view we need to look at the entire project -- of the entire capital expenditure budget.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, if I could interrupt again, sorry, I imagine the panel might have a comment on this as well, but I am looking at Oshawa's responses to the VECC part 2 interrogatories, and I don't know if this is what Mr. DeVellis is looking for, but at pages 7 and 8, and this was discussed with Mr. Buonaguro this morning, actually pages 7 through 9 there are listings of capital budget items for 2009.  And I note that at page 7 all projects estimated to cost over 100,000 are listed.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay. I was actually going to go to that exhibit next.  So we can do that.  If you go to page 9 of the VECC responses, you have a list of 2009 projects.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And you have divided them
into -- I guess the first part is just 2009 projects, and then you have a separate heading "IRM application projects"?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Mm-hmm.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So those are the four that we have been discussing, right?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So if you take the total of the non-IRM projects, these are all enhancement projects?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So if you take the total of these non-IRM projects, I get $2,184,800; does that sound right?  Take that, subject to check?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, subject to check.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If you go back to page 7 of Board Staff's interrogatories -- that's the summary table we were looking at?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You have under "enhancements" 6.1 million?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, so there is $4 million unexplained.  Is that because they don't -– they are under the $100,000 threshold?


MR. TURNEY:  The $6 million -- $6.1 million enhancement budget would include on page 8 of 17, the 2008 approved projects.  I believe you were adding up the 2009 projects only.  The 2008 are actually carried over into 2009.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry, you mean they are approved for 2008 and they just didn't get done?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. TURNEY:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I thought we went over this table earlier, and it was explained that this table does not include the projects that were approved in 2008 that you just didn't get to, because that was the difference between the 10.2 million -- if you take the net amount on this table --


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- including smart meters, and compare it to your 11.8 million, that the difference was the 1.7 million.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry, what you want is a reconciliation of the 2009 projects back to 6.3 million?  Is that what --


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  Well, 6.1 is the amount on the table here.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, 6.1.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  I think we have some of them on this list here on page 9 of the VECC –-


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  -- responses, but not all of them.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So that was -- I guess brings us back to our interrogatory -- my undertaking request.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So you are saying this satisfies some of it.  This doesn't satisfy all of it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.


MR. MAHAJAN:  You still would like to see a full reconciliation of all our projects above $100,000.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I think if we use the $100,000, that might get us into the same problem.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's why --


MR. MAHAJAN:  So you want all the projects?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right, and the other part of it, though, is I was --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Can I just make a suggestion?  I think the relevance of all of this is how do you go about calculating the threshold, really.

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, it's not.  The relevance is to what extent all of your projects are discretionary or nondiscretionary.  You have only discussed four of them, the four that you've identified as the IRM projects.  And in our view, the test is not just the four projects; it's all of them, and the extent to which all of them are discretionary or not discretionary.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So my understanding of what you are saying is that you want to look at all of the projects and all of the projects need to be justified from a discretionary standpoint; is that correct?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Certainly --


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you are applying for an IRM
module --


MR. MAHAJAN:  I mean if that is a requirement from the Board, we would be happy to do that, but our understanding of all of the guidelines was that you apply the threshold test and whatever projects that fall above the threshold that are nondiscretionary, you have to then submit, you know, details on those projects.

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I understand, but then how do you identify which ones put you above the threshold and which put you below the threshold?  How do you know?  You just happen to be -- that's the way how you have ranked them, but I mean you could have had four other projects that were on this side of the line --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, for us, all of the projects we are doing in 2009 are the ones we need to do in 2009, but we have picked the ones that are above, you know, the amounts that would be material.

MR. DeVELLIS:  But how do you know which ones those are?  I mean, you have a line of whatever the threshold is and you have some projects that are below the line and some projects that are above the line.


My question is: how do you identify which are on which side of the line?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Then we would really have to give you the details of each and every project as a part of this application.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That is what we were asking for in our interrogatory.


MR. MAHAJAN:  I don't know if that was our --

MR. DeVELLIS:  I think the problem was our use of the term "materiality threshold", which I agree was confusing, because there are two materiality thresholds.  But what we were looking for is your whole capital expenditure project -- budget.

MR. MAHAJAN:  So you do realize there would be small projects worth 50,000, $20,000, you know, which are required by Durham Region or City of Oshawa planning and works planning divisions that we would have to justify and provide you details for.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. DeVellis, through the Chair, maybe could I ask -- perhaps this is of assistance, if I understand where you would like to take this, Mr. DeVellis.


If the underpinning concept or premise in your 2008 cost-of-service application would be a mix of discretionary and nondiscretionary projects -- do we accept that that is the case, that in a cost-of-service application you are going to have -- not all projects need to be nondiscretionary to receive approval; it's your rebasing year.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Mm-hmm.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think where Mr. DeVellis is going is that for this module, his client's interpretation of the purpose of the module and what would be of benefit to the Board is that you would have to revisit your 2008 cost-of-service application to determine what areas of that spending, capital spending, are discretionary.


Therefore, any nondiscretionary spending which may be new could supplant that spending going forward.  That's just an approach.  What I am getting at is I think that's his client's view of how this capital module would work.


So you can understand what he may be looking for is, to the extent that you have projects in 2008 cost-of-service that were considered nondiscretionary based on road widening and things driven by external forces, you may not be looking for a lot of detail or justification of those, Mr. DeVellis.  It would be more a separation of in your 2008, can you point us to the discretionary spending areas, which then could be viewed in the context of whether or not those particular programs could have been delayed as opposed to looking for new capital spending through the module?


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's exactly right.  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle, but I was referring to 2009 budget.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, sorry.  2009.

MR. MAHAJAN:  2009.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay, well if that's what –-


MR. QUESNEELLE:  It's based on a different premise, perhaps, than what you have, but I think that seems to be the view of his client.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Okay.  We will provide you a list of all the 2009 projects.  And what would you like as a way of explanation?  Just a quick, brief explanation as to why this project is necessary?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Why it's discretionary or not discretionary.


MR. MILLAR:  So that's J1.6.

UNDERTAKING J1.6:  To provide a list of 2009 projects and explain why they are discretionary oR nondiscretionary.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, you realize you will not have an opportunity to cross-examine on that?


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's often the case with undertakings, and unfortunately, I guess we could have worded the interrogatory a little better, but --


MR. VLAHOS:  Or you could have followed that up with a phone call to the company.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, we could have.  I apologize for that.


Now, with respect to your long-term load replacement project, the best way, I guess, is to turn to your evidence at page eight of the manager summary.  Now, you had a schedule for how these replacements were going to be done originally; correct?  And that is set out on page 8?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's staggered over four years?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and as I understand it, the reason that you had proposed to accelerate that and have everything done in 2009 is because there was a regulatory requirement that it be done?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, and so you -- now, you no longer have that requirement; correct?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.  And I would like to add that, you know, as Mr. Turney clarified this morning it's not just the regulatory drivers, it's also the reliability drivers that make us continue in requesting that, you know, such a project be allowed.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can I point you to page 9 of your evidence under "conclusion."  You say:  This project is required under regulation and as such is clearly non-discretionary.  So in terms of what makes it discretionary or non-discretionary, what you pointed to in your evidence was the fact it was required under regulation.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Correct, and I would like Mr. Turney to add, perhaps repeat the comments you made this morning.

MR. TURNEY:  Yeah, really it's, you know, notwithstanding the regulatory requirement, we believe that there is a requirement to do the project from a reliability standpoint.  Also, it provides us with a system that prepares for expansion in that area of our service territory.  That's where the growth is in our territory is the northeast, which is where these long-term load transfer customers are.  It also prepares us for Green Energy and Green Economy Act in being able the support smart grid and connect renewable generation to the system as well.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, you mentioned that you made an application to allow you to -- asking the Board to allow you to defer the long-term load transfers; correct?

MR. TURNEY:  Right, correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So what was the purpose of that application?  Why were you asking for an extension?

MR. MAHAJAN:  We were asking for that extension at the time because of the resource constraints.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And so now --

MR. MAHAJAN:  So now we understand there is a mechanism, we hope there is a mechanism available.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you were asking the Board for an extension because you couldn’t do it, but now that you have an IRM module so now you can get the money through on module, so you would like to do it in 2009.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Part of it.  There are a few other things that have changed, Mr. DeVellis, and what’s happened is clearly, today, we know in Oshawa, there are a lot more capital projects that we will have to do driven by Bill 15.  So one option is for us to go ahead with the Board-approved schedule of doing these projects, or even defer it to 2014 or go ahead and do these projects to look at the regulatory drivers that Mr. Turney pointed out, and be ready for other challenges that we will have to meet down the road.  We could clearly, you know, I don't want to argue with you on the point that you are making that is it -- is regulatory reason the key reason?  Yes.


There are other reasons for it which Mr. Turney's outlined, but if we didn't do this project today, we will have to do it in a few years from now and when we looked at the Board's March 27th, I believe communiqué on whether or not the LDCs can defer these projects we just came to the conclusion that we were would rather get these projects done today and get ready for a lot more infrastructure not just investments but demands on our time and manpower to manage those projects that, you know, in a few years from now, possibly beginning at the end of this year.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You had some budget for this project over all in your 2008 capital budget; is that right?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Sorry?


MR. DeVELLIS:  You had some money in your 2008 capital budget, is that right, you did some of the transfers in 2008?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  The project overall is not incremental it’s just that now you are just proposing to accelerate the spending.

MR. MAHAJAN:  That would be correct, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Are there any cost savings or associated -- incremental revenue associated with this project?

MR. MAHAJAN:  I won't say there would be incremental revenues because we are already getting revenues from the customers that we would be picking up.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Are you forecasting any cost savings?

MR. MAHAJAN:  We are not forecasting --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Efficiencies or...

MR. MAHAJAN:  I think going back to our discussion with Mr. Buonaguro this morning, we would be enhancing the reliability and response time for these customers that Hydro One currently serves.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I am going to move on then to your mobile workforce project.  Do you have Board Staff interrogatory responses?  Page 24, it's number 17A.  What you say there is:  In common with other distributors in Ontario OPUCN is expecting a large number of retirements within the next five to ten years.  We need to turn to technology to find efficiencies based on equipment such as this to absorb those manpower reductions without compromising reliability and safety.  Do you see that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So it seems to me that this is driven by a desire to find productivity improvements; is that fair?

MR. MAHAJAN:  One of the factors, one of the key factors I should say, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And it strikes me that this sort of investment in productivity improvements is the sort of investments that I guess the Board was looking for companies to make during the IRM period but that those would be funded by the company in order to achieve efficiencies.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Again, it's a matter of interpretation.  What we understand is the Board is saying:  In the IRM process you have to go find efficiencies at the very least you have to have an efficiency of one percent plus a stretch factor - I may be quoting the number wrong - but we want you to get those efficiencies over and above that it's entirely up to the individual distributor.  Oshawa's identified this as one project that would get us the efficiencies.


I am sorry if I am repeating what I discussed with Mr. Buonaguro, these efficiencies would not happen overnight.  We will have to get to that point where we will start seeing those efficiencies.  But quite clearly, one of the things that my colleague Mr. Turney and I have been discussing is the amount of backlog that we generate in our technical services department because of all the changes that happen in the field in the drawings which we call "as constructed" drawings, would somewhat get reduced because people would be -- our workforce would be able to make those changes right in the field.


So I wouldn't say there is only just one driver, but there are a few drivers that make us want to do this project as quickly as we can.


And I would like to remind you as I have said earlier on, Oshawa's made investments in our GIS platform and in our SCADA system, and this is an add-on module now to take full advantage of that platform, particularly the GIS platform.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Just one last question that’s in the area of the distribution system reliability project.  It’s actually, if you could turn to page 22 of the Board Staff responses, number 15A.  The question was:  Are the savings OPUCN expects from the feeders that are replaced on an annual basis?  You say in the second sentence –- well, you say the project was reliability-driven and not primarily financially driven; however, there will be savings in the reduced need for emergency response to power outage.


You don't provide a number.  Do you have an estimate of what those could be or is it de minimus?

MR. MAHAJAN:  It's very hard to estimate that.


MR. TURNEY:  Yes, we don't have an estimate.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fair.  I understand you don't have an amount, but obviously you agree there will be some savings but you can't quantify it.

MR. TURNEY:  Correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you very much, panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar, I am counsel for Board Staff.  Much of what I have intend to cover has been already been gone over but I do have a few questions left.


I will start with the regulatory costs you anticipate for this hearing.  I understand there may well be a variance account, so in the end, this may not matter, but it strikes me, and I would like to discuss it with you a little bit more, the 25,000 may be a bit conservative for a hearing like this.  And I just want to make sure I understand which costs you are putting into that figure, that estimate anyway.


So I understand you are putting your internal costs for the hearing into that amount?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And also your external legal costs, Mr. Sidlofsky's costs?  And I won't ask you how much he is charging you, but --


MR. MAHAJAN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  He is experienced counsel who has been here for a while.  I imagine he is not cheap, but I won't ask the amount.


And then on top of that, you have, I guess, something I am sure you are not crazy about, but you have to pay Mr. DeVellis and Mr. Buonaguro to come here and pester you for an afternoon and a morning.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Oh, we look forward to that.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sure you do.  But those are costs as well?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And on top of that, you --


MR. VLAHOS:  You are under oath.


MR. MILLAR:  A perjury proceeding.  You also have to pay the Board's cost on top of that?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And given all those costs, it strikes me that 25,000 may be a bit low for that; do you care to comment?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Mr. Millar, you know, quite frankly we have no experience -- I want to tell you, four years ago when I joined this industry, I had no idea the challenges of managing in a regulatory environment.  And I tell you this is the first time that I am looking at a proceeding where the Board has given some kind of a certainty.


I want to call ourselves as investors.  We invest in the infrastructure to provide a critical service in a safe, efficient and reliable manner.  We have never had, up until this day, any mechanism for us to be able to find some certainty so that we can go back to our capital providers, whoever they may be, equity or debt.  That if you were to allow us to spend this money, because our first job is to keep the lights on, we would have -- we have an assurance from the regulator that if we meet the strict criteria and the tests, including the interrogatories from the intervenors, we could actually get a return on the investment that you are obliged to make for the license and the privilege that you have been given to service a particular territory.


So this is the first application of the kind that I believe -- and of course, Hydro One is the other one.


Like Mr. Vlahos reminded me, I am under oath.  I have no idea what these costs would be.  We are estimating these to be a $25,000, but if you have a better estimate, I would much rather face that sticker shock today.


So, you know, we don't.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I don't have a better number for you.  In fact, the only one that we would have any input into is the Board's portion of the costs, and frankly, I don't even know what those are.


MR. MAHAJAN:  The point that I want to make is we recognize that these costs are going to be there, and the request that we want to make to the Board is, the Board has provided us an opportunity, a mechanism to follow strict guidelines and come in front of the Board and the intervenors and to justify our case.  After all is said and done -- all these tables, all these charts -- Oshawa has got to make investments in its infrastructure to make sure the feeders perform as well.  Yes, we could argue it should be 13.3 on our risk matrix or 12.8 or 11.2, but the reality is when that feeder goes down, the customers are not getting the service that they are paying for.


At the same time, when we don't implement the technologies, when we do not implement tried, tested, proven solutions such as mobile workforce management, we are not doing a good job either for the benefit of our employees or for the benefit of our customers.

MR. MILLAR:  And I will get to those.  I was asking specifically about the $25,000 figure now.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, and what I am saying is we do not anticipate what these costs would be.  We are requesting the Board the consider allowing us, whatever these costs may be, 25,000 is an amount that we have come up to.  Whatever the actuals might be, we should be able to track that in an account and --


MR. MILLAR:  I understand that.  Thank you for that.


As part of the incremental capital module, there are the four projects, of course, that you are seeking approval for.  Have you spent any money to date on any of those programs – or those four projects?  Pardon me.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Other than the LTLT that we have -- no we haven't.


MR. MILLAR:  None of the incremental funding, anyway.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, we have spent, as Mr. Turney has advised me correctly, we have spent money in investigating how many of the concrete poles we would have to change.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right, but you haven't actually --

MR. MAHAJAN:  On a capital basis, we haven't.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  Okay.  And imagine that the Board --


MR. MAHAJAN: Sorry, I apologize.  I apologize.  Let me correct that.  We have actually already started replacing some of the concrete poles.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Okay.  Well, that leads into my next question, and it is:  If you don't receive approval from the Board for these projects -– and imagine for a moment -- will you proceed with any of the projects?  And I take it at least some of the concrete poles will be replaced, irrespective of –-


MR. MAHAJAN:  We would be replacing all the poles that need to be replaced.  We will be doing work on that feeder because that is a feeder that needs replacement.  We would be implementing, you know, the mobile workforce management solution.  As far as the LTLT is concerned, we would take the Board's guidance on that and see how we want to work on that project.


MR. MILLAR:  So three of the four projects will go ahead, irrespective of the Board's decision here?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And on the time frames that you have identified within the application?


MR. MAHAJAN:  At this stage, from an executive team and executive responsibility, that is what I would recommend to our board, our corporate board.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Okay, so it's fair to say a final decision hasn't been reached yet, because we haven't got to the bridge yet.


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  But that would be your recommendation?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's helpful.  Thank you for that.


Could I ask you to turn to Board Staff 1A?  And in fact, if you could flip to page two of 25, at the very first sentence, it states:

"OPUCN has adjusted this amount -–"


"This amount" being the -- I believe the total funding you are seeking:

"-- by 1.7 million to exclude capital projects that are included in our approved rate base, for which spending carries over from 2008."


And just a question of clarification, could I ask you now to turn to VECC 5H?  And that's at page 15 and 16 of 17.And you will see in the answer to eight -- pardon me, to H, the first sentence reads:

"Please find attached the 2009 capital enhancement budget.  All projects in 2008 were completed except for carry-over projects.  The carry-over projects were denoted by CO7 and CO8 job numbers in the attached 2009 capital enhancement budget."


And then if you look to the chart, you can see the CO7 and CO8.  When I add all those -- what are being identified here as carry-over projects, when I add them all up, I get a number of 3.499 million, just under 3.5 million.  And since that's not the same as the 1.7 million number provided in Board Staff 1A, I guess we are talking about different things here.


But are you able to tell me what the difference is between the 1.7 million that you identify in Board Staff 1A and about the 3.5 million that shows up in this chart?


MR. MAHAJAN:  You are talking about all the CO7s and CO8s?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I understood, and maybe I'm just mistaken, but from VECC question 5H, you indicate that those are the carry-over projects?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  Into 2009, and then I thought we were asking essentially the same question in Board Staff 1A, or at least you were responding to the same point, where you say that 1.7 million are projects including the approved rate base for which spending carries over from 2008.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Right.  So your question is that all of these total up to be a lot more than 3 -– sorry, 1.7 million?


MR. MILLAR:  1.7 million.  Yes, that's right.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Part of that answer is CO7s.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. MAHAJAN:  You know, these are projects from 2007 that have not been completed.  And I don't know what the others total up to.  And included in that total is the MS9 substation, CO-829.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be more helpful to do this by way of undertaking?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  And I’ll just be clear what I am asking. I understand you have to net out the -- when you calculate the threshold, I understand you net out carry-over projects; have I got that right?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes, once we get that threshold amount, we net out the carry-over projects.

MR. MILLAR:  And the number you used to net out was 1.7 million?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  Here the number is higher, and you want a reconciliation.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Would it be okay if we provide you an undertaking and clarify if there is anything that needs to be clarified with you on the phone?


MR. MILLAR:  Undertakings have to be provided in writing because they have to go on the record.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Just to clarify the question and provide you a background.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I think everything that the
Board -- the Board wouldn't be able to consider things are held in a discussion between you and I, so everything has to be put in writing and filed with the Board.  You can do that?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is J1.7.
UNDERTAKING J1.7:  To reconcile the carried over projects amounts $1.7 million on P.2 of Board Staff IRRs and amounts on 16 of 17 VECC IRRs


MR. MILLAR:  I am going to move on to the concrete poles.  I think much of this has already been covered.  Oh, yes, I understand -- I thought I heard you to say earlier today that no concrete poles were replaced in 2008; did I hear that correctly?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, could I ask you to turn to Board Staff 3A, interrogatory 3A.  And that's at page 13 of 25.  And you will see 3A, that's where you answered that it was just wood poles that had been replaced in 2008.  But if you look at the preamble to the question, question 3 at the very top of the page, it says:
"On the top of page 427 of OPUCN 2008’s cost-of-service application dated October 3rd, 2007, OPUCN noted that older concrete poles have experienced rebar deterioration and replacements are being made in the downtown area utilizing decorative poles."


So when I read that those were replacements in 2008 or those were simply planned replacements that didn't occur, or maybe you could help us out with that.


MR. TURNEY:  Those were concrete poles in our downtown area that were being replaced as part of a City of Oshawa decorative lighting program in the downtown area.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  There were some concrete poles that were replaced.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Street lights.


MR. TURNEY:  Street light poles.


MR. MILLAR:  Are those different than the types of poles we are talking about?

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you explain that?

MR. TURNEY:  The poles that we have targeted for replacement and are part of the IRM application are distribution poles, they have distribution circuits as opposed to strictly street lighting.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Do they carry distribution lines as well?

MR. TURNEY:  Yes, transformers, distribution lines, switches.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, the poles replaced in 2008, do they carry distribution wire?

MR. TURNEY:  No, they are street light.

MR. MILLAR:  Were they in your rate base, these street lighting poles?


MR. MAHAJAN:  No.  The street lights are owned by the City of Oshawa.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So those were never part of this application.


MR. TURNEY:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  They were replaced, but they are not part of your net plant anyway so it doesn't matter.

MR. TURNEY:  That’s right.  They are funded by the City of Oshawa.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  They are not funded through your ratepayers – well, they are, but not through your rates.  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I think I will move on to the LTLT program.  Again, much of this has been covered.  This is something that was just touched on by Mr. DeVellis, but I just want to follow up.  He asked you if there were any revenues or monetary benefits arising from the LTLT program, and I thought I heard you to say that there were not.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Well, the revenues would be the revenues we are getting already from those customers that are being serviced by Hydro One.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn to VECC 2B,  and in fact, page 5 of 17 where they -- there is a chart here, and this is in relation to a question on the LTLT program.  It does show some incremental revenues for both the residential and the GS greater than 50 kilowatt -- pardon me less than 50-kilowatt class.  So are these indeed -- I know we're -- I will get into specific number in a moment but, you know, the total at least shown here is only $10,000 but are these in fact incremental revenues as a result of...

MS. LEPPARD:  Those are -- we are paying Hydro One for those customers.  We are settling with them, and we are settling at a higher rate than what we are charging the customers.  So basically it's the net between what we are paying to Hydro One to service those customers and what the customers are paying us based on our rates.

MR. MILLAR:  So when we say incremental revenues, that's because you will no longer be paying Hydro One, they will be paying you.

MS. LEPPARD:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  That is extra money that’s in your pocket for the years shown.


MR. MAHAJAN:  That’s correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And that’s as a result of the accelerated LTLT program, and I know it only looks like $10,000 at the bottom here, but as I look at the chart, it shows 2008 through 2011 – in 2009, let's imagine the Board approves the project and you complete the entire thing in 2009, would I be right you would essentially multiply this figure by two?  Because you would capture all of those gains for 2009 and you would have them again for 2010 before you rebase.

MS. LEPPARD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So the correct number would be, I guess, something around $20,000 for 2009 and 2010.

MS. LEPPARD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Those were the incremental revenues.  And I take it you didn't net those out when you prepared this report, you didn't remove those.

MS. LEPPARD:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Was that just because of the relatively small amount of money.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am almost done here and I think much of this has kind of been touched on before, but -- in fact, you addressed some of it from my very first question but let's just talk about the feeder program, the feeder replacement.  I understand you are almost certainly going to be replacing that in any event regardless of the decision.  What happens if you don't replace the feeder?  We have got it an as a non-discretionary project so that’s what I’m getting at.  What will happen if you don't replace that feeder?

MR. MAHAJAN:  What will happen is that based on any outage information that has been -- let me give you a backdrop of what we do in terms of outage management.  The executive team meets every week and one of the things that it looks at is all of our outage statistics.  And every month, in addition to our weekly meeting, we look at what are the causes of some of the outages, and if we have been highlighted by our team that there are certain feeders which are likely to face equipment failures.  I don't care about the trees, I don't care about the rodents causing those outages, but if I have not recommended to my board, my corporate board, that based on the analysis that this team has done, we need investments to be made on these feeders, I think, you know, I would say that we haven't done our job properly in making the appropriate recommendation.

So to put it very simply, I would be recommending to our board that based on the analysis of these outages that we have done, we should go ahead and replace this feeder because there is a greater degree of likelihood that the outages would be caused by the equipment failure, which are things under our control, rather than things that are not under our control, such as rodents and tree issues and all of that.

MR. MILLAR:  You have discussed this before.  It's a reliability issue, obviously.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there any safety issues arising from this particular feeder?

MR. TURNEY:  From the fact that it's a non-standard construction, there is some safety.  More in terms of our workforce than public safety, but definitely substandard construction and not as safe as the newer construction standards.


MR. MILLAR:  Did you say non-standard or substandard?

MR. TURNEY:  Substandard.  It was the standard 30 or 35 years ago, but not today.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's not a TSSA issue.

MR. TURNEY:  No it would be ESA in our situation.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Mobile workforce, the plan again to update some of their equipment.  What will happen if you don't do this?  Again, I am speaking in terms of the capital module has to be non-discretionary spending.  If you can't spend this money -- I am not asking about approval here, I am asking if you don’t actually spend the money, what will happen.

MR. MAHAJAN:  What will happen is, number one, we will not get the benefit of an investment that has already been made.


We have invested money in our GIS platform.  I am only going to talk about GIS, but we have also invested in certain other platforms.  One of the reasons, one of the key drivers investing in an open architecture GIS was that we could add on, layer on other modules that would bring in the kind of efficiencies -- I don't want to repeat myself again and again, but you know, those are the kind of efficiencies that we would achieve, based on that.  So that's number one.


Number two, it's -- certainly Mr. Turney and I have discussed this many times, the discomfort we have when the as-constructed drawings do not get into our system as quickly as we would like to.  They can, if we hire a number of technicians whose job is to look at these modifications that are being made in the field and get them into our GIS platform, so that when our operator is looking at it in the middle of the night, guiding the crew that is responding to an emergency, they do not make a mistake.


I also want to add that we do have systems and checks and balances in place that those paper drawings are still kept on those service crews -- service trucks, I beg your pardon.  But I would like to have an additional safety and a comfort that my operator, when he is telling the crew how to react to that emergency, does it in a safe and a responsible manner, based on the information that actually exists on the field and not based on the drawings.


So that has been our ongoing concern, that we would -- we know can be addressed by this too.  And, you know, it's -- if we take a look at our total budget, approximately $10 million, we thought with this incremental investment we achieved a lot, that we would certainly be making the recommendation to our board regardless of the outcome here.


But they would be considering the decisions at this hearing, you know; they will be taking that into account when they make their decision.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


The Board has some questions.  I have got a few different areas here that I just want the make some clarifications on, and I will just take advantage of some running notes here, if you don't mind.  I will just be a second here.
Questions by the Board:

MR. QUESNELLE:  I just want to get some more information, perhaps, Mr. Mahajan, if -- and just going back to a comment you just made a few minutes ago in discussion with Mr. Millar about this being the first opportunity that you have had, and if you don't mind, I will just go back to the point here.


Yes.  You mentioned that up until this day that you have not been able to find any certainty on putting forward a plan for spending that you could take back to your investors.  I am just wondering if you could square that with me with the cost-of-service application last year and how this differs from that.


MR. MAHAJAN:  The process, Mr. Quesnelle, what I mean by that is that cost-of-service years, absolutely.  You know you could justify the projects to the board and all the other stakeholders and the return is approved.  But it's the intervening years between the cost-of-service in, let's say, 2008 and cost-of-service in 2011 and '12.


When you have extraordinary circumstances that you have to do certain projects which are above the threshold, I believe what the Board in its wisdom has said, you have to, as a utility, invest at least a depreciation amount, plus a factor, at least 50 percent more.


So if your depreciation is running at, let's say, 4 million, we want you to spend $6 million before you even think about approaching the Board.  And if it is in excess of that, we want you to apply various tests as to whether it's prudent and it's nondiscretionary and it's important.  We don't want you to make it a routine event, but if there are circumstances that are making you invest based on these guidelines, we would consider your application.


So that is what I meant by the first mechanism, the first regulatory change that allows the utilities to approach the Board in the intervening years.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand.  You put that into a better context for me, and that is in essence what the Board saw as a potential for improvement in the regulatory construct in developing this very module, which you are using to apply.


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  All right.  Well, that answers that for me.


The other question I had, and again, just recently in your conversation, this is to do with the reliability elements of the application and the feeder, and discussion on the outage management and looking at the cause and effect, the causal –-


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- drivers for the outages.  I didn't hear -- maybe it is in the evidence -- but what standard are you attempting to achieve in your reliability standards?  Like we have the Board key performance indicator, which is not codified, but it's there as a –-


MR. MAHAJAN:  Guide.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- a guide, and there is the three-year historic, I believe.  Is that something you have shown in evidence as a benchmark to indicate what projects you would select?


MR. MAHAJAN:  I don't know what's in the evidence, but I can tell you, Mr. Quesnelle, we are trying to achieve four nines.  By that, I mean we want to be on at least 99.99 per cent of the time on things that are under our control.  And our past year's statistic -- Mr. Turney can correct me if I am wrong -- has been .998, three nines and an eight.


MR. TURNEY:  Three nines and an eight.


MR. MAHAJAN:  Three nines and an eight, and we are trying, that even with an older system such as Oshawa, we can target to keep our lights on most of the time.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So that is you are targeting an improvement in reliability, not sustaining of your current reliability; is that right?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That is correct.  That is correct.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Have you done any analysis as to where you may sit in the industry, as to whether or not you may already be well above a benchmark of average or --


MR. MAHAJAN:  We have.  We would consider ourselves in the top ten -- top quartile, if not top decile.


Mr. Turney, would you like to comment on that?


MR. TURNEY:  Probably more top quartile, but we haven't directly compared ourselves to the people -- to the other utilities in Ontario.  We have done a study -- it's probably three or four years old now -- where we benchmarked ourselves against North American utilities, and we found we sat in about the middle of that group.  This included utilities in the US, as well.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, but no comparative analysis as to where you might be sitting as far as the Ontario context there?


MR. TURNEY:  Not directly.  We have reviewed the numbers, but not -– we haven't realty ranked ourselves in that --


MR. QUESNELLE:  To be fair, I should probably put this in the record at the same time, the Board itself has recognized that it's a difficult thing to do and that we haven't been able to do it ourselves with any level of certainty that would bring us to a point where we codify the requirement.


That is kind of a -- I want to put that on the record, that's what the Board recognizes as the situation.


But what I am trying to get a sense of is that you have determined that it is in your customers' interest to improve on the reliability that you historically have been able to achieve?


MR. MAHAJAN:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, and again, you have spoken about the analysis that you have made to determine that that would be a public interest that the Board may be interested in as well?


MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Just take a look at the long-term load transfers. I might have difficulty actually giving you a location in your evidence, other than to identify that it is something, I believe, that was filed with the -- your request for interim exemption, and it is the Oshawa PUC response to OEB letter dated June 26th, 2008.  This has a July 25th, 2008, date on it.  I believe it was in the main evidence.  Okay.  Now, in there just a couple of questions just to get a grasp as to what your understanding of certain elements or certain things that have happened on this file.  I understand you have received and been granted an exception from the code an extension of the deadline the 2011; is that right?

MR. TURNEY:  That is correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you perceive that that granting of the extension in any way opines on the plan that you put forward itself, that the granting of the exemption somehow also sanctions the plan that you filed with the Board as part of that exemption request?

MR. TURNEY:  I would say, yes.  If the plan has
been -- if the extension has been approved, then the plan is approved as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. TURNEY:  That was my understanding.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And in that application, and I believe you have got a commitment to an undertaking on this, you are going to file the analysis that was done that led you to believe that the plan is the optimum solution to the elimination of the load transfers and that would be the build out of your resources as opposed to Hydro One doing anything.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Mr. Quesnelle, you are talking about the undertaking that we gave today to Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Yes.  What he was asking was, at the time, was an analysis done?  An analysis was done.  And you know, it is just the interpretation of that analysis.  If you strictly go by the economics, I am speculating, but I would imagine that almost every utility across the province would say that, you know, Hydro One is already connected to those customers, so why make the incremental investment?

So I don't know if that's the analysis, but we have done an analysis because there are other factors to take into account, such as these customers do reside in the territory of Oshawa, and they do see that the rates in Oshawa are different than the rates that they pay across the street.  So there is a question of fairness.

I don't want to take the Board's time into going into all the details that you are already aware of, but hopefully Mr. Buonaguro will be satisfied with whatever we have done as a part of that application, because it will be pretty similar to the situation of every other utility across the province.  Most of the utilities, anyways.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think it was important to establish on the record what your expectation of as to –- in the case the Board sees that as before us right now.  Because if you are coming in this application with the -- on the premise and your understanding that you've already received approval of the plan for your long-term load transfer elimination, and it's just the timing element that caused you to come here, then I think it's important that people understand that that's your -- the premise that you are operating on, because that may or may not be the case.  I would have to take a look at that decision for the exemption and whether or not that truly does, and it may.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Thank you for the clarification.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think one of the other elements that the Board would be interested in is, you mentioned in that letter pertaining to that application for the exemption.  You speak of the Electricity Distributors Association long-term load transfer working group, and that it provided alternatives.  I was going to ask you what weight do you feel the Board should be placing on those alternatives, and has the Board in any of its proceedings opined on those alternatives, those being the three of connect, the geographic distributor, which is the –- your game plan to eliminate these through construction of new facilities.

There is also the transfer, which would also include a licensing alteration of the geographic area, a license amendment; and there is also the embedded retail point of supply, which other than the smart grid application, tends to suspend the situation in that they become your customers, it's just a different settlement process, and you haven't spoken in this application as to why you discounted that.

Something you did say and I hadn't picked up on it in the written evidence, but something you said earlier Mr. Turney and I believe it was in response to Mr. DeVellis that a notion of - this and it may come through in the response to the undertaking, is that there is what they build out of your plant to transfer these customer that is prepares the area for future expansion.  That, in my mind, is something that the Board would be always interested in is the cost comparison of the existing physical distributor, either maintaining serving the current plant or what’s it to do for the future.

I think the Board has articulated this and is filing guidelines on the long-term load transfers, that at a static point in time it may be a cost-benefit analysis that takes you to one direction which is perhaps the existing physical distributor should become the license and geographic distributor as well, but with the area -- foreseeable future and the planned requirements of the near future, it may very well be a different answer that perhaps it does justify the building out of the geographic distributor’s plant to accommodate, because in that comparison they could do a better job and more economic job of that than having the existing physical distributor upgrade their plant for future growth in the area. So I think that is an area of importance.

So there are a few things here in this whole load transfer arrangement that I think the Board has to understand where you are coming from in this application, what it has approved up to this date and whether or not truly there is enough on the record to approve not only – well, to endorse the plan.  Because if it's more than just a timing of the spend, then the Board probably doesn't have enough on the record.  And given the premise that you just presented that you felt that the plan was already approved, I understand what's on the evidence in the case.  If that's not the case, the Board may not have enough of that analysis on the record, even given what's expected to come in the response to this undertaking.

I think that's enough I said on that.  I have some concerns on this area and where your starting point may have been in this application.

Just one other, for clarity’s sake.  You had mentioned that Hydro One supported the exemption, but I am looking at the letter, this is July 23rd letter that you had filed from Hydro One and it was to Oshawa PUC, and the letter states that it supports the interim exemption from the requirement of the Distribution System Code and Hydro One accepts Oshawa's proposal to extend the elimination of the load transfers to 2011.

I see that as a support for exemption request, but not necessarily endorsement of the plan and that's what kind of led me to the whole belief we perhaps we are at cross-purposes here as to what has been approved to date and what Hydro One actually has, on this record, supported.  I just see support for the exemption, not support for the plan that will eliminate the transfers.

And just one other area.  Just a minor, and just to keep the record straight in case there is confusion here.  If you can turn up response to VECC IR No. 3, and it became something that Mr. Buonaguro asked for clarification on earlier.  It's the table on which part of it is on page 8 and it was the discrepancy of numbers.

Looking at the -- in the table under reliability and safety concrete pole replacement, there was a question of that number being 250,000.  Mr. Buonaguro was asking why wasn't it 210,000.  And I think it was recognized that it was a bit of a typo here, in that it should actually read as 25,000, but that doesn't help me as to -– the 25,000 may be a typographical error, but I don't know what 25,000 represents.

I question as well whether or not it should not be 210, or why does this not jibe with other areas that seem to replicate the same information.  And if you could clarify that for me.


MR. TURNEY:  It should be 210.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  It is 210,000, then, which shows up other places in the same type of categorization?


MR. TURNEY:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I believe that is all I had.  Yes.  Thank you.


MR. TURNEY:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.


Mr. Sidlofsky, those are the Board's questions.  Any redirect?

Re-Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just a couple of questions, sir.


Mr. Turney, I think this would probably be a question on direct to you.  When Mr. Quesnelle was just speaking to you about outage management in respect of the feeder replacement and the standard you are trying to meet, Mr. Mahajan referred to wanting to be on or trying to be on 99.99 per cent of the time.


If I could take you back, though, to responses to interrogatories, and I believe those were the responses to Board Staff at page 20 of 25, I noticed that your -- in your response to question 12A, I read this as your illustration of the reliability of the subject feeder and that's 2F4; is that correct?


MR. TURNEY:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Compared to, I think, what you have referred to here is a -- sorry, an average performing feeder.


MR. TURNEY:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Where will your replacement of the 2F4 feeder put it in terms of reliability?  Will it actually exceed your average performing feeder?


MR. TURNEY:  It should, in theory, be at least as good as the 5F5, if not better.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So that would improve your overall --


MR. TURNEY:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- reliability statistics?


MR. TURNEY:  Yes, it would.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, if I could just have your indulgence for a moment, Mr. Vlahos?  Thank you.


Just finally, perhaps Mr. Mahajan or Mr. Turney, you were asked just at the end of the Board's questions by Mr. Quesnelle about the -– about your long-term load transfer elimination plan and the application to the Board, and I know that you will be filing that material in a response to an undertaking, but can you tell the Board at this point your understanding of Hydro One's position on your application or your plan?


MR. TURNEY:  From a verbal standpoint, we worked with Hydro One in preparation of our plan, and there were no concerns at their point in regards to the method that we were going to solve the long-term load transfer issue with.


You're right.  You are correct in pointing out that we do not have that in writing, but certainly it was our understanding, while working with Hydro One on the plan, that they were in support of the method.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And also, Mr. Quesnelle was asking you about the -- or he mentioned the embedded retail point of supply in his questions, and perhaps you can correct me, sir, if I am wrong, but my recollection is that Mr. Quesnelle's comment was that there wasn't a lot on the -- or there wasn't a lot related to the possibility of an embedded retail point of supply.  And was that considered in the context of your application?


MR. TURNEY:  That was considered, and it is my understanding that that option would not work in our situation, and that was investigated by both ourselves and Hydro One jointly.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I might just, Mr. Sidlofsky, just to make sure the record is clear here, that I don't want to leave the impression that the Board has opined on that option at all.  I guess it goes to my earlier question and it was maybe too rhetorical, but I wanted to know what weight or has the OEB placed any weight or opined on the EDA's working group analysis of what the options are.


I am just putting that out there now.  You can address that perhaps in direct or in reply.  But the Board would be interested in what your concept of that is, as to where that fits in the overall picture on this file.

MR. SIDLOFSKY: Thank you for that, sir.


I am just trying to make sure in these types of questions that it's clear on the record that certain options were considered by Oshawa, and I wouldn't want the impression to be left that the retail point of supply option was simply not considered.


And, in fact, if I could point Mr. Turney to –- unfortunately, these pages aren't numbered, but in the document marked "Oshawa PUC Networks Inc. response to OEB letter, dated June 26th, 2008" -- and that follows the -- if it helps the Board, it follows the report on the incident relating to the concrete pole collapse and the list of -- there is a group of exemption application forms -– or excuse me, exemption explanation forms with respect to the long-term load transfers.


Mr. Turney, have you found that material?  It's covered by a letter dated July 25th, 2008, to the Board Secretary.  I see you turning pages there, Mr. Turney.  If you can just flip a few more pages over.


I think I see you have got the cover letter open.  Could I take you to a couple of pages after that?  And I am sorry, does the Panel have that?  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It would be -- there is the title block page, Oshawa PUC, and then there is a series of one, two, three, four tables on separate pages.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  And immediately after that, there is a part three to that material.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Is the heading "the following description is intended"?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, it is.  Now, I expect that in the response to the undertaking, you will be providing the additional material, but at this point, Mr. Turney, can you confirm that Oshawa considered three options here for the long-term load transfers?  And could you tell the Board in -- perhaps in a bit more detail than you have here, what Oshawa's considerations were with respect to those three options?


MR. TURNEY:  It has been a while since I have looked at this.  We definitely looked at the three options; connect being option number one; two, embedded retail point of supply; and three being the transfer.


As I have mentioned, though, it has been a while since I have looked at this application.  I am not sure what your, you know, direct question is in regards to it, if you could clarify.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, specifically in response to Mr. Quesnelle's comment, I note here that this letter does comment on the retail point of supply.  So I take it you did consider it; is that correct?

MR. TURNEY:  Yes, it was.  As I mentioned in here, it was a particularly attractive option because the amount of spending required was relatively low.  And it was an option that was considered.  My understanding is that there were technical reasons why this option was not viable for us in our particular situation.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, perhaps we can leave that there, then, thank you sir.  Those are my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you Mr. Sidlofsky.  Any other matters?  Mr. Millar.
Procedural Matters:


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we should perhaps discuss a schedule for written argument.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I haven't discussed this with any of my friends, in fact, maybe first I would ask Mr. Sidlofsky, to the extent he knows, when we might receive the undertaking responses.


MR. SIDLOFSKY: A number of them appear to be require a bit of detail particularly Mr. DeVellis's request for all of the capital projects but I would -- and I haven't spoken to the witness panel about that either, I would hope that we could have those by -- I was going to say the end of the week, but unfortunately we are running into the Easter weekend.  Perhaps I could check with them now.  My thought would be either Thursday or Thursday of next week.

MR. MAHAJAN:  Is it possible for us to get back to you on that?

MR. MILLAR:  Let me put up some suggestions and we will hear from my friends as well.  We had initially given thought to written argument by intervenors and Staff by the 15th; however, that may be running into some problems if the IR responses are not in, especially if they are not in until next week.  Perhaps the 17th.  That’s a week Friday, and then reply by the company a week from that, the 24th.  Again, I suppose to some extent it depends on when the undertaking responses come in, and I don't know what my friends think of that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, a suggestion.  It appears we are not going to be able the make it for May 1st rate, so I guess some of that urgency is removed or not there, so I will be guided by -- I would err on the side of more rather than less.  It is an important case.


MR. MILLAR:  We could push it to Monday the 20th, and that would, I think ensure there was plenty of time for the undertaking responses to be considered.  I am not sure if Mr. Sidlofsky is happy with a week, but that would push it to the 27th for reply.


MR. MAHAJAN:  So the sequence is the undertakings to be given and...

MR. MILLAR:  Undertakings to be filed as soon as they are ready.  In fact, I would suggest as soon as each one is ready you file it so people can start going over them.  Then written argument by intervenors and Board Staff by the 20th of April.  Reply from the company by the 27th.

MR. VLAHOS:  But we need a bit more firm date for the response for the undertakings so that can work into the schedule by intervenor argument.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Sidlofsky, are you able to get us the 14th as a drop-dead date by the time we get the last of the Undertakings?  That's the Tuesday following Easter.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Oshawa's closed Friday and Monday, I believe, which effectively gives three days for the undertaking responses.  I mean, what I can say is that - although I haven't spoken to Oshawa about it – but what I can say is that we will provide the answers to the undertakings as we have them.  I am not sure that I can say at this point that we would have all of them by the 14th as a drop-dead date.


MR. VLAHOS:  Why don't we do this as another option, Mr. Millar.  Why don't we wait until we receive the responses to all of the undertakings, and upon receipt of the very last one, we just send a quick PO out - it doesn't take long in terms of drafting it - and announce the dates, and it would provide at least a week for the intervenors to respond -- not to respond, sorry to file their argument.  And then at least a week for the applicant to respond to those; would that be fair?

MR. SIDLOFSKY: That would be fair.

MR. VLAHOS:  So we will give you some flexibility in terms of the response to the undertakings.  Having said that, I am sure you will attempt to do it as soon as you can.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We always do, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can ask for a little bit of clarification.  So that would mean that submissions would be due on the later of say the 20th, or seven days after the dates?


MR. VLAHOS:  No, we have written off the dates.  We will say as soon as we receive the responses to the undertakings the Board will issue another document, another procedural order which shall set the dates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. VLAHOS:  And what I also said is that you can count on your argument to be in not less than seven days from the receipt of those responses to the undertakings.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I was anticipating the high unlikely scenario that they finish their interrogatory responses, say, by Wednesday this week.  Seven days from that would be Wednesday next week, which is what I was talking about. That's all.

MR. VLAHOS:  Not less than seven days.  I haven't said business or calendar days, but we will leave that to Staff when they draft the PO.


MR. MILLAR:  We will sort that out.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So Ms. Sidlofsky, your oral argument in-chief, how much time?  Do you need any break?

MR. SIDLOFSKY: I would say only ten minutes.

MR. VLAHOS:   How much of a break do you need, or do you need a break?


MR. SIDKLOFSKY:  I’m not sure that I do, sir.  The undertakings may result in some adjustments to the – well, they may result in some adjustments.  But the principles that we are dealing with here I think are constant, and certainly I don't think there has been any indication that the estimated capital costs of these projects, these four projects that have been identified here, will change.  I don't think I have heard anything in cross-examination to suggest that the $2.2 million being proposed is any different now than it was before we began this morning.

So I am prepared to make my comments now.  I understand that I will have an opportunity to deal with other issues as they arise in reply.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  As they arise.  I guess one of the concerns is that the intervenors may be concern raising things that may not be raised in their submission, but I am sure you will be guided by that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, sir, I didn't catch the last.

MR. VLAHOS:  It is just I guess your last comment that there may be other things you want to comment on in your reply, and I guess the concern that I am anticipating from the intervenors is that those other things may include things that are not raised by the intervenors’ arguments.

MR. SIDLOFSKY: No, I understand the nature of the reply argument.  Often with an oral hearing, the Board will provide an opportunity for written argument-in-chief, but as I said I am –-

MR. VLAHOS:  Not always.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Not always, that's correct, but I am prepared to make some comments at this point.

MR. VLAHOS:  Did you want to break or do you want to proceed?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I -- Perhaps we could take about 10 minutes, sir.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:44 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:05 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sidlofsky?


MR. SIDLOFSKY: Thank you, sir.  I appreciate the extra few minutes as well.

Closing Argument by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  To begin, sir, Oshawa PUC Networks has applied for approval of an incremental capital rate adder pursuant to Section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, and the Board's report on third generation IRM.


In determining applications under Section 78, subsection 78(3) of the act provides for the making of orders for just and reasonable rates.  Section 1 of the Act sets out two key objectives by which the Board is to be guided in carrying out its responsibilities with respect to electricity.  First:

"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service."


And second:

"To promote economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness in the generation, transmission, distribution, sale and demand management of electricity and to facilitate the maintenance of a financially viable electricity industry."


In its July 2008 report on third generation IRM, the Board determined that there would be an incremental capital module in the third generation incentive regulation, to deal with incremental capital investment needs that may arise during the incentive regulation term.  The Board set eligibility criteria based on materiality, need and prudence.  Eligibility to apply for rate relief would be subject to a materiality threshold, and in its September 2008 supplemental report, the Board established the formula for determining that threshold.


To its knowledge, Oshawa is the first local distribution company applying for relief under this new incremental capital process.  It's Oshawa's evidence that it has applied the formula correctly in the Board's third generation IRM report -- excuse me, the supplemental third generation IRM report


.Oshawa has identified four incremental capital projects that it considers essential for the 2009 rate year.  First, a concrete pole replacement project resulting from an incident in which one of Oshawa's concrete distribution poles collapsed.

Second, elimination of long-term load transfers to approve reliability and power quality, and provide back-up service in the event of equipment failure.  Oshawa considers this work essential for the 2009 rate year, notwithstanding that the Board granted Oshawa's request for an extension to the Board's January 2009 deadline for elimination of long-term load transfers.


Third, the replacement of Oshawa's 2F4 feeder, which serves approximate 1,000 customers.  They are predominantly residential customers, but the customers served by that feeder also include commercial customers and one school.  The feeder is performing at a much lower level than average performing feeders, according to the evidence in the Oshawa application.


And finally, the implementation of a mobile workforce project that builds on Oshawa's recent technology improvements, and that will contribute to improvements in safety, efficiency and error reduction, and assist in addressing upcoming retirements from the utility's workforce.


The Board Panel heard evidence from the witnesses today on each of those projects, and the Oshawa application includes evidence with respect to them.


The Board's incremental capital process begins with the calculation of an incremental capital threshold, and a value for eligible capital spending.  Oshawa submits that it performed the –- excuse me, that it performed those calculations according to the Board's formula and arrived at an eligible capital spending amount of just over $5.2 million.

After removing capital projects that were discretionary and/or already included in its rate base, Oshawa applied for approval of capital projects totalling approximately $3.5 million.  Since then, following a detailed inspection process, Oshawa determined that the value of its concrete pole replacement project should be reduced from approximately $1.5 million to $210,000.


Oshawa submits it has acted responsibly in this application.  I should point out, sir, that the removals from the eligible capital spending amount were addressed both in Oshawa's application and in its witnesses' cross-examination today.


On the responsible actions of Oshawa, I had offered two examples.  First, the initial application contemplated the replacement of 20 percent of its concrete poles, based on a rough estimate, with a resulting project cost estimate of approximately 1.5 million.  When the report came back from its line maintainers, indicating that only 30 poles required replacement at a total estimated cost of 210,000, the overall expenditure was reduced to approximately 2.2 million, with a corresponding reduction of its incremental revenue requirement from $453,220 down to $284,954.


In requesting the recovery of costs related to this application, Oshawa is proposing to spread those costs - and that is the application costs - over more than one year, in order to ensure that Oshawa does not over-recover in that regard.  And as discussed previously, in the course of the hearing today, Oshawa is requesting an accounting order by way of a variance account that would allow it to track costs, actual costs against the amounts being recovered through the adder.


Oshawa's evidence, both prefiled and given during this hearing, has emphasized the utility's compliance with the Board's tests for approval of incremental capital.  Materiality, need and prudence have been addressed in respect of each of the projects. While approximately $300,000 in incremental revenue may not seem like a lot, as Mr. Mahajan testified, it reflects over $2.2 million in incremental spending.  And that, in turn, represents almost 20 percent of Oshawa's total capital budget for 2009.


Not only do these projects meet the Board's materiality test on a numerical basis, but expenditures of this magnitude have a significant influence on Oshawa's operations.


With respect to the criterion of need, Oshawa has ensured that the expenditures are outside the base upon which its 2008 test year distribution rates were derived, as evidenced by the removal of the $1.7 million in capital expenditures.  And Oshawa's evidence has been that -- and remains that the projects are nondiscretionary.


With respect to prudence, Oshawa's application makes it clear that Oshawa is planning to tender the two largest projects -- that is the long-term load transfer elimination and the feeder replacement -- to outside contractors to ensure the most economical project costs.


I have already commented on the reduction of the scope of the pole replacement project, so that only those 30 poles that must be replaced this year are being replaced.  And as with the load transfer and feeder replacement projects, the mobile workforce project will also be tendered to qualified vendors to ensure the most economical project costs.


As the Board is aware, and as Mr. Mahajan testified, Ontario's local distribution companies are facing significant new capital expenditures in the coming years, particularly in the context of Bill 150, the Ontario Government's proposed Green Energy and Green Economy Act, 2009.


Oshawa submits that the incremental expenditures proposed in this application should be approved this year and the projects should be implemented this year, so as to provide regulatory certainty in respect of these projects, particularly when there had been no such certainty in the years between cost-of-service applications.


Moreover, Oshawa's proposed projects that improve service quality and system reliability, such as the load transfer eliminations and feeder replacement, while not specifically smart grid and distributed generation-related, will help, as Mr. Turney testified, to support the upcoming Bill 150-related investments.


As for its costs of this application, Oshawa submits that it is appropriate to recover them through the rate adder, similar to the way that it recovered the costs in the 2008 rate rebasing application; that is, divided over a multi-year period.  Oshawa is proposing to spend an amount equal to almost 20 percent of its 2009 capital budget in incremental projects, and it wishes to ensure that all of those funds can go toward those projects set out in the application.  These projects will benefit Oshawa's ratepayers through a safer, more reliable and more efficient distribution system.


The utility submits that it's appropriate to recover its costs of the application related to those projects through rates.  As discussed previously and as I mentioned just a moment ago, Oshawa is proposing the establishment of a variance account to track recoveries against actual costs, for reconciliation at a later date.


As Ms. Leppard testified, the bill impacts arising out of these four projects are negligible, with a typical residential customer paying only 35 cents more a month inclusive of application costs.  Oshawa submits that not only does the part 2 application meet the Board’s incremental capital criteria with minimal bill impacts, but more broadly, Oshawa submits that the rates proposed in this application are just and reasonable and that the approval of this application will satisfy the Board's section 1 objectives under the Ontario Energy Board Act. For all of these reasons, Oshawa respectfully requests that the Board approve its incremental capital application as modified by the exhibits filed today.


Oshawa acknowledges that it will be required to comply with the Board's reporting requirements, that the Board will carry out a prudence review to determine the amounts to be incorporated into rate base, and that matters of overspending and underspending will be reviewed at the time of rebasing.

Finally, as Ms. Leppard testified, Oshawa's rate calculations assume May 1st implementation, and if the Board is unable to issue an order that can be implemented for May 1st, as now appears to be the case, Oshawa does ask that the Board allow it to recover the remaining -- excuse me, to recover the full incremental revenue requirement over the remaining portion of the rate year.

I thank the Board for its time and for the hearing today.

 MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky.  The Board has no questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY: Thank you, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  With that, panel, thank you very much you are excused.  Have a safe drive home.

Intervenors and Staff, thank you, and court reporter.  So the oral part of this proceeding is adjourned and we look forward to your arguments.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:17 p.m.
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